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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Welcome to this

          3  hearing of the Government Operations Committee. I am

          4  Simcha Felder, Chair of the Committee, and I am not

          5  joined by any of my colleagues at this moment. I

          6  would also like to introduce, I would like to

          7  introduce, to my left, the Counsel to the Committee

          8  DeNora Johnson, right to her left is Sheila Horgan,

          9  the Policy Analyst for the Committee, and to my

         10  right, Michael Casatano, my Legislative Aid. And

         11  although she is not here today, I would like to

         12  thank the Committee's Legislative Affairs Liaison,

         13  Jamelia Nathan, for ensuring that we had all the

         14  necessary documentation from the Mayor's Office for

         15  our vote yesterday on the amendment to the lobbying

         16  law.

         17                 I would also like to thank in advance

         18  the Campaign Finance Board Advocacy Group and other

         19  interested parties for providing their testimony at

         20  this hearing.

         21                 Today the hearing will conduct an

         22  oversight hearing -- today the Committee will

         23  conduct an oversight hearing regarding the issue

         24  that is of great interest to the City's elected

         25  officials, the Campaign Finance Board and its
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          2  report, public dollars for the public good, a report

          3  on the 2005 elections.

          4                 The New York City Campaign Finance

          5  Board and New York City's Campaign Program were

          6  created by the City Council in 1988, which makes the

          7  Board and the program almost two decades old.

          8                 The City's Campaign Finance Program

          9  is considered one of the most successful Campaign

         10  Finance Programs and systems in the nation. And this

         11  Committee is charged with oversight powers to ensure

         12  that it continues to live up to that reputation.

         13                 According to the New York City

         14  Charter, after each election, after each election

         15  cycle, or as the Board deems appropriate, the Board

         16  must issue a report to the Mayor and the City

         17  Council regarding the previous election, providing

         18  detailed statistics about the program, participation

         19  in the program, candidate expenditures, et cetera

         20  and such other legislative recommendations as the

         21  Board sees fit.

         22                 The Committee looks forward to

         23  hearing from the Board and witnesses and listening

         24  to the testimony about these issues. Ultimately, the

         25  Committee hopes to receive a deeper understanding of
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          2  the program and obtain constructive feedback about

          3  how, if at all, to change the program to ensure that

          4  it remains a model campaign finance system.

          5                 Before we begin with the testimony,

          6  as I previously mentioned, I know that the issue of

          7  campaign finance is an issue of great importance to

          8  all Council members, and all of the City's elected

          9  officials. In fact, we have been joined by

         10  Councilman Domenic Recchia, and Councilman Peter

         11  Vallone, Jr.

         12                 However, to the extent possible, I

         13  would request I am eliminating that from the record

         14  to the extent possible. Eliminate that from the

         15  record.

         16                 However, I would request that my

         17  colleagues, my colleagues limit their questioning of

         18  the witnesses, in particular of the Campaign Finance

         19  Board, to the broader issues that are likely to

         20  affect a majority of the elected officials, rather

         21  than just one elected official.

         22                 So, for example, if there are issues

         23  that I'm upset about, I shouldn't spend time talking

         24  about those issues, unless it's an issue that really

         25  has an impact or affects other Council members.
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          2                 Personal problems that have nothing

          3  to do with Campaign Finance you could talk about at

          4  length. But those that have to do with Campaign

          5  Finance should be specifically related to more

          6  general questions.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Can I talk

          8  about Domenic's personal problems with the Campaign

          9  Finance Board?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes. In fact, I

         11  encourage you to.

         12                 The issues that are likely to affect

         13  the majority of candidates, and not just questions

         14  specific to your campaign or candidacy.

         15                 With that, I'd like to request that

         16  the witnesses from the Campaign Finance Board come

         17  forward. Mr. Frederick A.O. Schwarz, Jr., Chairman

         18  of the Campaign Finance Board. Ms. Amy Loprest, the

         19  new Executive Director of the Campaign Finance

         20  Board. Thank you.

         21                 I just want to add that what I said

         22  is true, that many of the Council members have had a

         23  lot of difficult with the Campaign Finance Board,

         24  despite that I would say that Mr. Schwarz has an

         25  impeccable reputation in this City, and we
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          2  appreciate the fact that he is the Chair of the

          3  Campaign Finance Board. We appreciate that, even if

          4  we don't like everything that it does, that's not

          5  the point. And the prior director also had an

          6  impeccable reputation. So, we appreciate that very

          7  much. So, any criticism or any discussions we have

          8  nothing to do with the respect that we have for you

          9  personally, even if we have questions about the way

         10  you do things.

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: We know that, and I'm a

         12  great admirer of the Council, even though I don't

         13  always agree with the Council. And indeed, in my

         14  role in 1989, in Chairing the City Charter Revision

         15  Commission, I think did a great deal to put this

         16  Council in the position of respect and power that

         17  it's in.

         18                 And therefore, I enjoy in that hat

         19  being raked over the coals in oversight hearings.

         20  That's just what you should be doing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Before we rake

         22  you over the coals, please identify yourself for the

         23  record.

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay. I'm Fritz Schwarz,

         25  the Chair of the Campaign Finance Board. This is our
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          2  General Counsel, Sue Ellen Dodell. This is our new

          3  Executive Director, Amy Loprest, and this is our

          4  Deputy Director, Carole Campolo, who has been with

          5  the program from the very beginning. And Sue Ellen.

          6  They all have been for quite awhile, much longer

          7  than me.

          8                 Now, what I have given you, some

          9  prepared testimony, and I hope the other people who

         10  came in have it also, which goes over some of our

         11  ideas for legislative reform.

         12                 I'm obviously not going to read that

         13  entire statement. I'd just like to make some of the

         14  highlight points. The first is one of atmosphere and

         15  mood. This City Council has been at the lead of

         16  government reform in New York City.

         17                 It was this City Council, under the

         18  leadership of Peter Vallone's father, and with also

         19  the urging of Mayor Koch, that passed the Landmark

         20  Campaign Finance Law in 1988. I think Peter's father

         21  made an interesting comment there, which he said,

         22  "Isn't it amazing that we're acting in order to

         23  provide money for our opponents?" And it was

         24  amazing. It was an act that many legislative bodies

         25  have not taken and would not take.
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          2                 Now, today New York City is still in

          3  the forefront but we believe there is more to be

          4  done to improve the law. And this is a time for

          5  reform in this State. The new Governor has taken

          6  office on a reform platform.

          7                 It's also a time for reform in this

          8  State because our neighboring states, Connecticut

          9  and New Jersey, have begun to take some steps on

         10  Campaign Finance Reform, where they've left us a

         11  little bit behind, which is not a position that this

         12  City wants to be in or this Council wants to be in.

         13  And the one area on that where I think we have

         14  fallen behind is on the regulation of contributions

         15  from people doing business with the City.

         16                 I talk about that at some length in

         17  the prepared remarks, but it is something where when

         18  we did a study that we published last June of how

         19  many contributions come in from, to people running

         20  for office, from people, entities that are doing

         21  business with the City and it's remarkably high. I

         22  think it was something like 22 percent of

         23  contributions that were made during the '05

         24  election, came in from people doing business with

         25  the City.
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          2                 Now, you know, what's the right word

          3  to apply to that? I think the fairest word is that

          4  it looks badly. You know, is it corrupt probably

          5  seldom, but sometimes, but it clearly looks badly,

          6  but we ought to make an effort in this City to do

          7  what I'm embarrassed to say New Jersey and

          8  Connecticut have already done, and act to limit

          9  gifts from people who do business with the City.

         10                 There has been a lot of progress from

         11  the Administration having prepared databases that

         12  show, for contracts, anyway, and for lobbyists where

         13  you have already acted very courageously and very

         14  effectively, to show who is doing business with the

         15  City.

         16                 The area of Land Use, quite frankly,

         17  is the one that always has been, this was true when

         18  I was Corporation Counsel and there was the really

         19  awful system on this subject of the Board of

         20  Estimate, where there were huge gifts given from

         21  people who wanted to have the City act on

         22  discretionary matters, to give them a Land Use

         23  right.

         24                 The Administration needs to do more

         25  to collect database for the Land Use subject.
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          2                 Now, we believe the right way to

          3  address this subject is through legislation. And

          4  through legislation that does not burden the

          5  candidates, but rather affects the person doing

          6  business with the City. And if they know that they

          7  shouldn't give a gift over let's say $250, they have

          8  the biggest incentive not to do it, because they

          9  know they risk losing a contract or losing a

         10  favorable Land Use deal.

         11                 That's what's done by the SEC

         12  governing securities professionals. It is what's

         13  done in Connecticut and New Jersey.

         14                 Now, if the Council didn't act, we,

         15  the Board, are in an unusual position where there

         16  was a City Charter amendment passed several years

         17  ago that required us to act. And we are prepared to

         18  act and impose regulations on doing business

         19  contributions if the Council doesn't act. But we

         20  cannot do it in the right way.

         21                 We can only affect people who are in

         22  the program. And that's burdensome, and it's unfair

         23  to draw a distinction between, or it's undesirable

         24  to draw a distinction between people who were in the

         25  program and not in the program.
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          2                 So, you have the power to act by

          3  legislation, and we want to work with your staffs

          4  and with the Speaker's staff on particular language

          5  and approaches, and I have attached to my testimony

          6  some principles that should be applied, like keep it

          7  simple. That's another important thing. Make sure

          8  that the person's interest in doing business with

          9  the City is material, not small, not trivial, and

         10  have it something that's self-enforceable, which

         11  would be through legislation.

         12                 If that isn't done, as I say, we're

         13  under a mandate under an earlier Charter to act, and

         14  we will act, but we really hope the City Council can

         15  make a major contribution here.

         16                 Now, on other things, we have under

         17  several headings listed improvements that we think

         18  can be made.

         19                 One is simplify the program. I'll

         20  just tick off a couple of the things that are

         21  mentioned there.

         22                 One is to eliminate the category of

         23  exempt expenditures, and make a commensurate

         24  increase in the amount that the campaigns are

         25  allowed to spend on their own.
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          2                 Why do this? Why get rid of the

          3  concept of exempt expenditures? Well, it's part of

          4  our hope to make the program simpler for candidates

          5  and less contentious between candidates and the

          6  Board when the Board fulfills its duty to worry

          7  about public funds. I mean, that's why there is

          8  attention. I mean, we certainly don't have any

          9  desire to be in controversy, but our job is to

         10  protect the public funds, and so that often leads to

         11  tension. And in my experience now for three and a

         12  half years, the area that causes the most

         13  controversy, the area that's the most difficult to

         14  clearly define, is what is and what is not an exempt

         15  expenditure. So, we say get rid of the concept,

         16  increase the amount people can spend and thereby

         17  simplify the program.

         18                 Then on another simplifying, there

         19  are several more simplifying points, but I don't

         20  think I'm going to specify them, they're in the

         21  paper. Then we suggest that under a heading of

         22  enhancing competition for elective office, that

         23  there be several things that are done, and let me

         24  start with the one we put first for a good reason,

         25  which is, and this is a problem with the program
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          2  that I think risks its public support. There are

          3  instances where people who face truly nominal

          4  support, nonetheless are able to get 100 percent of

          5  the public funds for which the office of Borough

          6  President or Council Member or the other office is

          7  entitled to obtain, and that just looks badly, and

          8  to the public it's embarrassing when four or five or

          9  six or seven candidates, who win by 85 percent get

         10  lots and lots of public money.

         11                 Under the current system, they're

         12  allowed to, if either they have an opponent who

         13  spent a specified amount of money, which is an

         14  objective test, but the problem arises because there

         15  is another means by which people can get 100 percent

         16  of the money, and that is they just file a statement

         17  in a letter, which is called a "statement of need"

         18  which says I need the money. So, we have to give it

         19  to them, and they get it, and they win by the 85

         20  percent or the 90 percent.

         21                 Now, we came very close to solving

         22  this under the prior administration, whose language

         23  was pretty good and quite close to agreement, and it

         24  foundered on a potential issue which I think we've

         25  come up with a solution for. And the issue was,
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          2  people said, well, suppose, and I'm going to show my

          3  age by using a particular baseball figure, but they

          4  said, gee, suppose my opponent is Joe Dimaggio, you

          5  know, he doesn't need money to run, just I'm Joe

          6  Dimaggio, elect me, and that would be good enough.

          7  So, we said, well, okay, if a candidate is faced

          8  with that sort of a situation, they could come

          9  before the Board and explain that the person was Joe

         10  Dimaggio, or someone who in their Council district

         11  was the equivalent of Joe Dimaggio, and didn't need

         12  the money. The other person didn't need the money.

         13                 But that was never quite resolved,

         14  because I think your predecessor and others, perhaps

         15  in the management of the City Council, said they

         16  were worried that the Board might not know enough to

         17  resolve the question whether the opponent who hasn't

         18  raised money actually doesn't need money. I think

         19  probably the Board could know enough, but we've made

         20  a suggestion recently that there could be in the law

         21  a provision that says if the candidate in the

         22  program comes forward and says, look, I'm

         23  legitimately worried about this person who isn't

         24  raising any money, and please let me have the full

         25  amount of money from the program even though the
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          2  opponent isn't raising any money.

          3                 If you wrote in the law, that if you

          4  came in and said, look, there is someone you never

          5  heard of in my neighborhood, but in my neighborhood

          6  that person doesn't need a penny in order to have

          7  sufficient notoriety to be of serious threat to me.

          8  Then if the law was written that the opponent, your

          9  opponent, had the burden of disproving the argument

         10  that he or she is well enough known, I think that

         11  ought to be a good protection for, and if we could

         12  solve this problem, I want to emphasize again it is

         13  one that could really in the long term harm this

         14  good, essentially good City Campaign Finance Program

         15  by really making the public get fed up because

         16  people who don't need it, who clearly don't need it

         17  are getting lots of money.

         18                 Then there are a couple of other

         19  things on increasing competition. There are several.

         20  Let me just tick off a couple.

         21                 And these are also in our long

         22  report, which my colleagues, staff colleagues wrote

         23  and which is very good. But one would be restrict

         24  matchable contributions to the year of the election.

         25  That's something where incumbents have -- and here
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          2  this is hard to have this conversation with you

          3  guys, and I think you may be my Councilperson. I'm

          4  not 100 percent sure, but where does your district

          5  run?

          6                 Okay, she can't answer the question.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Jessica, you

          8  have to get out in your district more.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Let me introduce

         10  Council Member Jessica Lappin and Council Member

         11  Inez Dickens, who joined us.

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ: Anyway, the question is,

         13  as you said to the record before this question is

         14  withdrawn or something like that, you corrected the

         15  record, of course you're all incumbents and here we

         16  are saying to you it would be good for this program

         17  if there was a change made which would reduce an

         18  advantage that incumbents have. Incumbents obviously

         19  have a much easier time in raising money, if it's a

         20  four-year election cycle in years one, two, and

         21  three, and challengers really have a hard time until

         22  year four. But it would be a fair thing to do, and

         23  it is a big advantage that incumbents have.

         24  Incumbents tend to win, as you know, rather high

         25  percentage of their races, which, you know, there is
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          2  absolutely nothing wrong with that, because

          3  incumbents are often absolutely terrific, but there

          4  should be a sort of fair fight.

          5                 Then we suggest thing that bears on

          6  the subject of a high-spending non-participant,

          7  which was an issue, an enormous issue in the debates

          8  leading up to the last election. But we made only

          9  one suggestion for a legislative change on that

         10  front. We wrote a very thoughtful report which talks

         11  about the impact of high-spending, non-participants,

         12  and it does have a deleterious impact upon the

         13  program. But, you know, given the -- the public is

         14  not going to stand for enormously increased matching

         15  funds, they're already at six to one. They're not

         16  going to stand for enormously increased or huge flat

         17  grants, although those are respectable suggestions.

         18  But we do make one suggestion, which is if a

         19  high-spending non-participant where the race is one

         20  where there are debates required by the law, and the

         21  high-spending non-participant doesn't go to the

         22  lawfully required debates, and they can't be

         23  required to if they're not in the program, that in

         24  that circumstance the participant who went to the

         25  debate, and who lost the chance to confront the

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  high-spending non-participant, that the participant

          3  be given a significant, we don't say what the amount

          4  of money would be, but a significant amount of

          5  money, to give the participant a chance to use other

          6  means to reach the public, as opposed to the debate

          7  which the high-spending non-participant chose not to

          8  come to.

          9                 We talk a lot about the City Council

         10  itself, and we suggest lowering the contribution

         11  limits for all offices in the City, right now for

         12  the Citywide offices, the max is 4,900 or 4,700 --

         13  4,950, the President of the United States can only

         14  raise 4,000. So, we think the Citywide officials

         15  should be dropped down to 4,000 and we think the

         16  Borough Presidents should be dropped.

         17                 We also think the City Council should

         18  be dropped substantially, but the figure that we

         19  propose is not the only figure that you could

         20  rationally come up with.

         21                 We opposed a rather radical drop for

         22  the Council, and I think that might be a difficult

         23  one for the Council to think was sensible, but we

         24  think the number we proposed is sensible but the

         25  main thing we'd like to suggest is that there needs
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          2  to be a significant drop in the contribution levels.

          3                 That's been something that's been

          4  happening, happened from the beginning of the

          5  program, but then there were some inflation triggers

          6  that up-numbers, and so you have now the situation,

          7  as I said, which clearly is hard to defend in which

          8  the Mayor or the Comptroller or the Public Advocate

          9  are allowed to get larger contributions than the

         10  President of the United States is allowed to get.

         11                 So, as far as the administration of

         12  the program, we want to have a dialogue with you

         13  about that. We would say watch out for things that

         14  make the program more complicated, watch out for

         15  things that extend the time that it's taken for

         16  suggestions that some people have made who would add

         17  to the time it's taken between the election and when

         18  the final audit is complete, and I think we have

         19  done, the Board has done a much better job in the

         20  last couple of years in being quicker, and I think

         21  we are, except for extraordinary circumstances, we

         22  are attaining the goal of always finishing within a

         23  year.

         24                 So, anyway, on the administration

         25  side, watch out for things that are complicated,
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          2  watch out for things that take extra time.

          3                 Often our hearings are such where,

          4  you know, a person can come in on their own, some of

          5  the most effective advocates in front of us, and I

          6  have nothing against people coming in with counsel.

          7  I think I saw a very good counsel walk into the room

          8  just as I came up to here. But some people who come

          9  in without counsel, and just make a simple

         10  unvarnished claim of justice on their side or mercy,

         11  either one, often do quite well.

         12                 So, those are my prepared comments,

         13  and as I say, I'm happy to be here, and I, and my

         14  colleagues are happy to address all your questions

         15  on either what we've proposed or anything else.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 I just failed to mention earlier that

         19  the standard policy in this Committee is if you

         20  would like to speak you have to sign up the first 15

         21  minutes. Or call in advance, if for some reason

         22  you're unable to get here on time.

         23                 So, if there is anyone that is here

         24  that had intended to speak, even though it's 20

         25  minutes later, you still have a chance to sign up.
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          2  This is it.

          3                 We have a question from Council

          4  Member Lappin.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 I'm not a member of this Committee

          8  but I wanted to participate today because I am a

          9  relatively new Council member who really benefitted

         10  from this program, and overall I think it's a great

         11  program.

         12                 I had one question particularly about

         13  restricting matcheable contributions to the year of

         14  the election. You know, would that pertain if it's

         15  an open seat, as well as if there is an incumbent?

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ: That's an interesting

         17  question. We were thinking of it in the context of

         18  an incumbent and a new challenger. The argument in

         19  favor of it doesn't apply in the open seat

         20  situation.

         21                 On the other hand, would it be

         22  complicated to draft something that would make a

         23  clear difference. But the argument in favor of the

         24  change does not apply where there is an open seat.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: And if there
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          2  is a challenger running against an incumbent, they

          3  would be able to raise money in the years leading up

          4  to the election, but the incumbent would not?

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I don't know if

          6  we've thought that through completely. I mean, we

          7  know the situation is the challengers cannot raise

          8  in the -- and you know you could have complicated

          9  rules that would say, I'm just thinking out loud now

         10  in response to your good question, you could have a

         11  rule that said if the challenger has raised in the

         12  early years X, then --

         13                 MS. LOPREST: The recommendation is

         14  that no one would get matching -- you would be able

         15  to raise money, obviously, but you would not get

         16  matcheable contributions in the years before the

         17  election year.

         18                 It's contemplated that it would apply

         19  to everybody, so it wouldn't be that, you know, the

         20  incumbent would not have the matching funds and

         21  their challenger would. It's that everyone's would

         22  be at the same point. So, if you happened to have a

         23  challenger who is raising in the years before the

         24  election, they would have the same -- they would be

         25  at the same place as the incumbent, as far as
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          2  matching funds are concerned.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: I guess my

          4  concern is, you know, I raised the money that I

          5  needed for my primary before the election year, as

          6  did some of my opponents in the open seat. I wasn't

          7  the only candidate who did that.

          8                 The advantage was then during the

          9  year of the election I could spend five hours on the

         10  street talking to voters, five hours a day on the

         11  phone talking to voters, doing what I think I should

         12  be doing as a candidate, which is communicating with

         13  voters and not raising money. And, in fact, that was

         14  one of the attractive things that I could, because

         15  of the spending caps, because of the contribution,

         16  and I had sort of a fixed -- you know, if I had been

         17  running for State Assembly or State Senate, you

         18  know, it could have been the sky is the limit, I

         19  would have to always be raising money. That was one

         20  of the best things about the program, I thought, was

         21  that there were these sort of set limits so I could

         22  set that aside ahead of time and then really focus

         23  on communicating directly with voters. And I thought

         24  that was a positive thing, and this would eliminate

         25  that.
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          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: You know, my guess is

          3  that the dialogue that's just gone on here is one

          4  that if one listened to it and then sat down and

          5  thought about how to write laws, one could

          6  accommodate what were the things you were talking

          7  about.

          8                 There is a point, this is a public

          9  policy point, but in terms of you wanted to be able

         10  to spend the fourth year out there on the streets,

         11  instead of back home on the telephone, there's a

         12  point about incumbents, too, that it's a good thing

         13  if they're doing, for as many years as possible, as

         14  much of the public business as possible, instead of

         15  being out raising money. Actually, that's been one

         16  of the arguments, people abused for having the

         17  Campaign Finance Laws and so forth. I would bet -- I

         18  mean, Amy, don't want to speak for you, but I would

         19  bet a discussion that focused on the questions that

         20  Councilman Lappin has raised could well lead to

         21  sophisticated legislation that took account of the

         22  points that you had been making.

         23                 MS. LOPREST: I agree with Chairman

         24  Schwarz's point that, you know, the concept as

         25  applied to open seats is not as, you know, the
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          2  arguments for doing this are not as strong, and when

          3  you have an open seat, I can understand your points,

          4  and I think that you're right that we could probably

          5  work out some nuanced way to handle both, you know,

          6  achieve both goals in one piece of legislation.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: I mean,

          8  certainly in the open seat there were a number of us

          9  who did that. But even if a challenger wants to take

         10  on an incumbent, it helps them as well to be able to

         11  set that aside, and I just really wanted to bring

         12  that to the Chair's attention, because I think

         13  that's one of the goals of the program, is to spend

         14  less time raising money, which I really appreciated

         15  and spend more time communicating with voters. And I

         16  don't want to give up the matching funds and that's

         17  the best part of the program and what empowers a lot

         18  of the people who I did meet along the way to

         19  participate, and this would sort of go counter to

         20  that, in my opinion.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: But if you do take a

         22  hypothetical race between an incumbent and putative

         23  challengers, given your points. But it's still true

         24  that overwhelmingly if there is an ability to get

         25  matching funds in years one and two and three,
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          2  that's going to be a substantial favor for

          3  incumbents.

          4                 So, I think when one comes to that

          5  situation, a fair analysis would say our proposal

          6  makes sense.

          7                 I think the open seat is totally

          8  different, and you made another point that I thought

          9  legislation could, in a sophisticated way, address.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Council Member

         11  Vallone.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chair.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Schwarz, and everyone

         15  else who came down today. I'm just going to go

         16  stream of consciousness.

         17                 First of all, your goal is a great

         18  one, simplify is a very good goal. That's our

         19  biggest concern here, the amount of time and effort

         20  and money we have to spend just attempting to

         21  comply. And anything we can do to simplify is a good

         22  thing.

         23                 There are lots of good points that

         24  were made. The first one in my head is a nominal

         25  opposition situation where obviously it was abused.
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          2  We all saw the abuse that happened. People filed

          3  statements saying they had a position, which were

          4  jokes. And we need to do something about that.

          5                 On the other side of that coin,

          6  though, because we just never know, if somebody like

          7  Serph Maltese had come in to you and said I have

          8  real opposition, probably would have laughed, and he

          9  almost lost. And I know it's on a different level,

         10  State level, but just as by way of example.

         11                 So, I didn't really understand how

         12  you proposed, how your solution allowing people

         13  coming before you somehow changed the situation that

         14  existed in the past?

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, it would eliminate

         16  the Statement of Need letter. And the putative

         17  candidate who's in the program would say I know my

         18  opponent hasn't raised money, so my opponent doesn't

         19  make me eligible for funds because my opponents

         20  raised money, but would come in and say but my

         21  opponent is so well known in my neighborhood that

         22  just having their name on the ballot means that I

         23  have to really fight to defend my -- or to win. I

         24  really fight to win, because this could happen in

         25  open seats, too, actually.
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          2                 So, there should be --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Wasn't that

          4  on the table last time you had these discussions?

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: It was, but --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: What's the

          7  difference?

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ: The difference is we've

          9  come up with this idea that, suppose you're the

         10  person saying my opponent is incredibly well known

         11  in Queens, and last time it was just the Board would

         12  hear you and decide. The change we have proposed is

         13  that the Board would hear it and decide, but the

         14  burden of disproving your argument would be on the

         15  other candidate.

         16                 So, if they didn't come forward and

         17  say, look, this is ridiculous, here is evidence why

         18  I'm not well known or something of that sort, we

         19  would, the Board, have to decide in your favor.

         20                 MS. LOPREST: I think also, just to be

         21  clear, it would be coupled with a financial test

         22  also. As an example you gave Serph Maltese, I mean

         23  his opponent did raise and spend, you know, a fair

         24  amount of money, so it wouldn't be just to show that

         25  the person is so famous, this portion that Chairman
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          2  Schwarz is talking about would only kick in when the

          3  person really didn't spend any money. There would be

          4  tiers as there are now for, and it would probably

          5  start on a lower threshold that you would get some

          6  public money if your opponent raised money, and they

          7  would go up to full public funds. This would be in

          8  the case of a person who was so famous that they

          9  didn't need to really raise or spend money at all.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm glad

         11  you're thinking about this, because I want to figure

         12  out a way to end that abuse. But having someone come

         13  in and say this is why I'm not going to win, and I

         14  shouldn't even be running in this race to begin

         15  with, because I have no chance of beating this

         16  person, doesn't seem to be the best way --

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ: They don't have to come

         18  in and say I'm not going to win.

         19                 I mean, Amy is right first in saying

         20  if the opponent has raised or spent money --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Can I say

         22  something on that point, because I had the exact

         23  situation, as you guys probably know. The first time

         24  I ran was the only time I ever took funds, I never

         25  took the second two times. My opponent wound up
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          2  out-spending, he spent more than a quarter of a

          3  million dollars. I had no way of knowing that, none

          4  at all, until well after the election.

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: Now you would because

          6  even non-participants have to file the disclosure

          7  statements, which you guys passed in '04 or

          8  something. And that worked last time. And all the

          9  non-participants, including the one who was running

         10  without any public funds, had to file disclosure

         11  statements on what they were raising and what they

         12  were spending. So, that has been taken care of.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Would it be,

         14  I'm no expert on this, insufficient time, those

         15  disclosure statements, to allow someone who was an

         16  incumbent who didn't take the money, but now all of

         17  a sudden needs it, because this person is spending

         18  much more than he thought he would spend to get that

         19  money and to get --

         20                 MS. LOPREST: The way it works is they

         21  file the disclosure statements at the same time as

         22  you would be, so you file, for instance, a

         23  disclosure statement in July and they would file a

         24  disclosure statement in July and it would show how

         25  much money they had, and now the trigger is that the
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          2  person has to raise or spend 20 percent of the

          3  spending limit, and what we were anticipating is to

          4  have it lower than 20 percent that you get some

          5  money and then have to get the full amount which

          6  would be at a higher trigger. So, we kind of have

          7  two tiers.

          8                 So, I think that they would file

          9  their disclosure statement and you would get your

         10  money right away, and if you could -- I mean, the

         11  same as I think you could do before, show that they

         12  are not fully disclosing their finances, which has

         13  happened many times when the Board has considered,

         14  whether someone has triggered the bonus situation,

         15  you know, it's a very common occurrence that the

         16  Board has heard people come in and say, you know,

         17  this person isn't really fully reporting all of

         18  their, and even if they file their State Board of

         19  Elections disclosure statements, they aren't really

         20  fully reporting all of their expenditures here, you

         21  know, are 12 ads that they sent, and the Board has

         22  been very receptive saying you're right, that means

         23  that they really had to spend a certain amount of

         24  money. So, I think there are a lot of provisions in

         25  the law to deal with those situations and our
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          2  recommendation would deal with, you know, have

          3  several tiers and then have this, you know, if the

          4  person was not spending any money at all.

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: We have, and Amy is good

          6  to bring up the situation where any candidate in the

          7  program is entitled to a bonus if their opponent is

          8  spending over X dollars.

          9                 We've had two situations that I can

         10  remember, where the candidate in the program said I

         11  think my opponent is spending over X dollars, and we

         12  said to the opponent, you have to disprove that to

         13  us today, and if you can't come forward, we're going

         14  to make a presumption against you and to give the

         15  candidate in the program the bonus.

         16                 Our state of mind is very much

         17  wanting to protect people who are in the program.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That's great.

         19                 Our state of mind, because of the way

         20  many of us have been burned in the past, is to not

         21  have discretion where it's possible to have hard and

         22  fast rules. And that's why there was that statement

         23  of need, which unfortunately has been abused.

         24                 What about a statement of need, and

         25  then somehow if that statement of need turns out to
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          2  have been falsely filed because that person got 85

          3  percent of the election, some sort, and you couldn't

          4  have that person repay the money, that wouldn't be

          5  fair, but what about limiting the amount of money

          6  available to that person in a future race as a

          7  punishment for filing the statement of need now.

          8                 Again, we've taken the discretion

          9  out, and no one has to come before you have many

         10  trials, but there is a way to perhaps penalize the

         11  person who falsely filed a document like that. Would

         12  that be something that might work? I just thought of

         13  it ten seconds ago. It's not like I've been thinking

         14  about this a long time. So, it could be the dumbest

         15  idea in the whole world, I don't know.

         16                 MS. LOPREST: That's why I could give

         17  you my ten-second response, I mean without really

         18  thinking about it for a long time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Domenic said

         20  it's not going to work.

         21                 MS. LOPREST: I think you might

         22  actually have more problems debating whether or not

         23  the statement of need was necessary or not, because

         24  I think the people filing, when they think there

         25  really is a threat and then you happen to win with
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          2  85 percent because something else happened, I think

          3  you'll probably wind up with bigger arguments on the

          4  other end deciding whether or not -- and then there

          5  are some issues about whether a future campaign is

          6  the same entity, you know, so there are some legal

          7  issues about that, too.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Just an idea

          9  to think about. I mean, it would be a risk we took

         10  by following your statement of need, that we weren't

         11  going to win by 85 percent.

         12                 MS. LOPREST: And that's sort of why

         13  this discretionary, you know, we're talking about,

         14  really only would kick in, you know, if the person

         15  is really not spending any money, so, you know, it's

         16  really not that common an occurrence, that someone,

         17  you know, who is really a serious threat spends no

         18  money at all. I mean, I imagine if Joe Dimaggio is

         19  running, you'd want at least one ad to let everybody

         20  know that he was running.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: In doing

         22  business, and there's tons of paperwork, so I don't

         23  want to go through too many specifics. I'll leave

         24  that up to the Chair, but you did say one thing that

         25  sends chills down our spine: You are prepared to act
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          2  if we don't. You're talking to a group of people

          3  here that no longer can get a cup of coffee from

          4  lobbyists. I got a memo yesterday my staff can't get

          5  me a gift. So, we get very nervous when these things

          6  start happening.

          7                 What was the mandate you mentioned

          8  that would allow you to act if we don't give you the

          9  authority?

         10                 MR. SCHWARZ: It was in one of the

         11  charters that passed under the Mayor that was before

         12  Mayor Bloomberg, and they laid down a -- you're

         13  smiling there.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: No, no. The

         15  Mayor that shall be nameless, okay. I won't say who

         16  he is either.

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ: I'm not sure that I'm

         18  able to observe that you're smiling, and I withdraw

         19  that comment, too.

         20                 It said the Campaign Finance Board

         21  shall promulgate rules relating to doing business,

         22  and under my predecessor, he, after investigating

         23  the City's databases, said, well, we couldn't do it

         24  because it would just be too vague because there

         25  aren't any databases that show who does business
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          2  with the City, and it certainly would be a bad idea

          3  to say to any contributor you've got to file an

          4  affidavit or something that you're not doing

          5  business with the City. I mean, how would a taxi

          6  driver, for example, know whether they were within

          7  that or not, just to take one example.

          8                 So, Father O'Hare wrote a letter to

          9  the Administration saying this is not doable. In

         10  '04, the current administration made a sharp

         11  criticism of us for not acting, and we said, well,

         12  the reason we haven't acted is because no

         13  administration has come up with databases. And so

         14  they set to work, and now at least in the contract

         15  field, they have an adequate database so one could

         16  act, they don't quite yet for Land Use. So, it's

         17  that charter provision. And, you know, to be candid,

         18  I'm not in love with the idea of an administrative

         19  body taking an action like this. But the Charter,

         20  which is the law, has said that you, the Campaign

         21  Finance Board, have authority to act in this way,

         22  and you should act in this way. And, so, I think I'm

         23  also uncomfortable with us not acting.

         24                 But certainly, absolutely the better

         25  solution, first as a matter of principle, because
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          2  you are the Legislature and we are not; and, second,

          3  as a matter of the way in which you have power to

          4  act and we don't, the right solution is for a simple

          5  bill where the definitions are clear and you're not

          6  -- for example, take contracts. It would be

          7  perfectly silly, in my opinion, but this would be a

          8  legislative question for you, to say that any

          9  contract with the City, no matter what the amount of

         10  money that's involved in it, leads to a doing

         11  business ban on you can't make a contribution. So,

         12  as a matter of your legislative judgment, you would

         13  want to come up with a figure for the size of the

         14  contract where if it's over X dollars, it would be,

         15  the person, the entity shouldn't make a contribution

         16  let's say over $250.

         17                 So, absolutely, we want legislation

         18  for the two reasons. We are not the legislative body

         19  of the City, even though that Charter gave us this

         20  power, and second, you can do something which is far

         21  more sophisticated and far more effective than what

         22  we could do.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay. I've

         24  got questions that I'll leave up to the Chair. I've

         25  got questions about why the Council only is being
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          2  limited the way it is, and the comparisons to the

          3  President you made with soft money and corporations

          4  and international committees involved there at the

          5  State level which has $49,000, and I can go on

          6  forever but I don't want to monopolize the time. I'm

          7  sure you and other Council members will get into

          8  most of those topics. And if not, maybe there will

          9  be some time at the end, if I'm still here.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: But maybe at

         11  least the last question can be answered.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I lost track.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: The one that you

         14  just finished. If you can repeat it. You talked

         15  about the disparity.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: All right,

         17  I've been given a mandate.

         18                 You're knocking Council down. I don't

         19  have the figure in front of me, but I think now

         20  they're $250, and you compared some of the races

         21  here to what the President could receive. The

         22  President obviously gets money from sources we

         23  can't, corporate, things like that. They have

         24  national committees that takes off money that pay

         25  for all their commercials, we don't. State and
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          2  county money, to run statewide I believe you get

          3  49,000. Forty-nine and change is the amazing amount.

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ: Very high.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: We are,

          6  unfortunately, on that same playing field. Someone

          7  sitting next to you running for the same type

          8  office, the State Assembly or something like that,

          9  raising 49,000, and we're raising $250, just kind of

         10  defines common sense.

         11                 I'm not saying that it wouldn't be

         12  right for everybody to maybe take $250, but we are

         13  playing in this ballpark here with all sorts of

         14  money that we've limited already, and no one else

         15  has.

         16                 So, I just wanted to see, again, how

         17  you could justify limiting us to $250 while everyone

         18  else is playing in a whole different ballfield.

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I try to be very

         20  careful in I think giving as broad a signal as I

         21  possibly could, that the $250 figure, while it was

         22  proposed and we think is rational, legislation is

         23  the art of the possible, and I could see some --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: But it's not

         25  your job to negotiate with us. The figure you come
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          2  up with should be the figure you think is fair, not

          3  the figure you think we're going to raise to

          4  something else, and then we come somewhere in the

          5  middle.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: It wasn't intended as

          7  negotiation. But it is in our report, and I came

          8  here and I testified to you that I would understand

          9  if the City Council didn't go that low.

         10                 I think it is as a matter of, and I

         11  would understand and not in any way disagree with

         12  the City Council if it didn't go that low. That's a

         13  little different than just understanding. But I

         14  think the fundamental point, which is that the City

         15  ought to get its rates down a little bit is correct.

         16                 You know, so what, the fact that the

         17  State has these outrageous numbers doesn't mean that

         18  we who have striven to be better than the State

         19  should also have numbers that are higher than they

         20  need to be.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, your

         22  limits would not affect, say, the county

         23  contributions to county organizations or State

         24  organizations?

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: I don't know what the
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          2  rules are on those contributions.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Because many

          4  of us have, either will have county support or will

          5  not, and if you're going to go against county, and

          6  I'm not saying -- I got county support last time, so

          7  I'm arguing against myself here. I'm arguing for the

          8  person who has to go against county, they're going

          9  to be putting in funds to your opponent and you only

         10  are allowed to raise $250 and they're not limited,

         11  it's not fair. It's something else you need to think

         12  about.

         13                 MS. LOPREST: The contribution limits

         14  actually apply to everyone who gives a contribution.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Gives me.

         16  What about gives county organization?

         17                 MS. LOPREST: Well, the county

         18  organization could only give you $250.

         19                 I mean, the contribution limit, right

         20  now the contribution limit with the City Council is

         21  $27.50, so even though I could give, not that I

         22  could, give $50,000 to the county organization, they

         23  would be limited to giving your campaign only 27,

         24  150 dollars in support.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, what
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          2  about their other actions in support of the

          3  candidate?

          4                 MS. LOPREST: All of their independent

          5  actions are obviously, you know, a different story.

          6  But you know, any action that's coordinated with

          7  your campaign would be covered under that $27.50

          8  limit.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I mean, I

         10  understand your position, pretty unenforceable. But

         11  I see your point, yes.

         12                 MS. LOPREST: And I guess, you know,

         13  about the $250 limit, as Council Member Felder said

         14  in the beginning, you know, this is not -- I mean,

         15  this is not a personal thing. I mean, what the Board

         16  has looked at over the years, how the program has

         17  worked, you know, at all levels of office, and if

         18  this is -- now I'm talking about singling out City

         19  Council, it's really that the program has very

         20  effectively met its mandates on all level of offices

         21  and on City Council there has been some -- it has

         22  worked quite as well. And this $250 limit, which is

         23  the, you know, the same number as the maximum you

         24  can get for matching funds, is part of a

         25  recommendation to create a program that will be
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          2  completely simpler for City Council members who

          3  generally have more grassroots campaigns, you know,

          4  that have less sophisticated, maybe, people working

          5  for them, and it was -- the intent of the

          6  recommendation was not to, you know, lower your

          7  contribution limit to $250 and everyone else's, you

          8  know, not as much. It was really the intent as a

          9  part of a whole recommendation to make the City

         10  Council program simpler for people, to allow people

         11  to run for City Council in an easier way. So,

         12  there's a number of recommendations that go along

         13  with that $250, such as simplifying reporting

         14  requirements, changing the ways that you document

         15  your qualified expenditures, a number of

         16  simplifications in the program that would assist

         17  City Council members.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Right. It

         19  would have to be much, much simpler. Because many

         20  elected officials, I can tell you this, are on the

         21  cusp of not participating only because what we're

         22  getting is equal to what we're paying to participate

         23  in the program, the amount of time, the amount of

         24  funds to attorneys to fight every silly fine you

         25  get, and just to figure out how to comply, it's
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          2  almost not worth it right now. If we were limited

          3  and it wasn't 100 percent simpler, there would be no

          4  incentive at all to go into the program. So, it's

          5  just something else you need to think about. If

          6  we're not going to gain any benefit from going to

          7  the program, then there is no reason for anyone to

          8  go into the program, and this program exists so that

          9  people go into it so that there's a fair playing

         10  field and it's a good program in that regard.

         11                 But if you limit it so much that

         12  we're pulling in far less than we're spending to

         13  comply, then there's no reason to be in the program.

         14  Just something to think about. I like the ideas, the

         15  thought involved, but just something to keep in

         16  mind.

         17                 MS. LOPREST: No, I understand. That

         18  is obviously, I mean, a lot of the other

         19  recommendations are intended to make the program

         20  simpler overall.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: You're welcome.

         24                 Councilman Recchia.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Good
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          2  afternoon. I have a number of questions. I'll first

          3  start off with the contributions of doing business.

          4  You want to eliminate that totally; is that correct?

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: No. Even though I think

          6  Connecticut eliminated it all together, I would have

          7  trouble with the constitutionality of totally

          8  limiting contributions from people who may do

          9  business with the City.

         10                 So, I would suggest that you take

         11  that number 250 and say a person who is doing

         12  business with the City can give no more than 250.

         13                 When you passed your lobbying

         14  reforms, did you address that issue?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: No.

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ: You didn't?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: No.

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: No, it's just

         20  not matcheable. If a lobbyist gives you 250, that's

         21  not matcheable. Okay?

         22                 Now, when you talk about that doing

         23  business, then the burden is going to fall upon the

         24  candidates.

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: No, not if you do it. If
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          2  we did it, it would inherently put a burden on the

          3  candidate, and that's one of the many reasons we

          4  don't want to do it.

          5                 You can do as the SEC did, as the

          6  State of Connecticut did and the State of New Jersey

          7  did, and put the burden on the donor, so they're the

          8  ones who have to be sure, they don't give more than

          9  the allowed amount, or else they risk losing their

         10  contract.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So, what are

         12  you recommending, they fill out an affidavit?

         13                 MR. SCHWARZ: No, just if it turns out

         14  -- I mean, we can provide to you, provide to you

         15  through the Chairman or provide to you all, exactly

         16  how it's done in New Jersey and by the SEC and so

         17  forth, but it works, just people want to be sure

         18  they're not going to lose the chance to do business

         19  with the City, or with the SEC or with the State of

         20  New Jersey or with the State of Connecticut.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: You talk

         22  about before that 22 percent of contributors were

         23  doing business with the City of New York, where did

         24  you get this number from? Was that last year's

         25  election, 2001?
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          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: It was done, the author

          3  of the study is here.

          4                 Stand up and talk and identify

          5  yourself.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Come closer and

          7  identify yourself for the record.

          8                 MR. FRIEDMAN: My name is Eric

          9  Friedman. Staff --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Talk into the

         11  mic, not to me.

         12                 MR. FRIEDMAN: The 22 percent number

         13  refers to contributions, not to contributors. The

         14  percentage of contributors is about five percent,

         15  but they represented about 22 percent of the money

         16  contributed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: What election

         18  did you get that number from?

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It's the 2005 election.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: 2005. 2005

         21  there were a lot less races. If you would go back to

         22  see the 2001 elections where you had triple the

         23  amount of races, you would see that that number is

         24  much lower. And I just think to put the burden on

         25  these -- I don't know how you are going to define
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          2  who is doing business, I mean a teacher that teaches

          3  for our school system, they do business. I mean,

          4  it's very complicated who does business and who

          5  doesn't do business.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: It is complicated. It is

          7  doable. Clearly a teacher, an employee, is not doing

          8  business. You have to define it both in terms of the

          9  substance of the act and a dollar value that's

         10  really significant.

         11                 But actually I think your point about

         12  the 2005 election, which was to say it might be

         13  overstated, I think it's substantially understated

         14  because it picked up only, it did not pick up Land

         15  Use as a category, and, quite frankly, the problem

         16  of big gifts from people who want a discretionary

         17  Land Use decision in their favor is the greatest

         18  problem.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I understand

         20  that.

         21                 I'm just over here talking about the

         22  doing business, because the small non-for-profit,

         23  they do business with the City, they get a contract

         24  with the City. That means they're going to be

         25  restricted?
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          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I think that would

          3  be a legislative question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I see a lot

          5  of complications. Then you get into the

          6  constitutional law of why is a not-for-profit who

          7  has a contract with the City, if you exempt them,

          8  then somebody else who does business, you know, I

          9  just see a lot of constitutional law issues.

         10                 MR. SCHWARZ: I think the

         11  not-for-profits, that's a very interesting question.

         12  It's really a legislative judgment. One could

         13  conclude that you only -- you also could conclude in

         14  writing your legislation, you want to start

         15  particularly simply and small. By small I mean not

         16  trying to cover everything in the history in the

         17  world. And one could conclude that the right test is

         18  is it a profit-making situation, and not to reach

         19  people who are not themselves making a profit, and

         20  that would be either the entity of business or a

         21  major stockholder, something like a ten percent

         22  stockholder, or an officer, but where there is

         23  profit to be made.

         24                 I mean that, frankly, if I were

         25  sitting in your chair and working on thinking how to
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          2  write the legislation, which is complicated and

          3  takes a lot of discussion and dialogue, but there

          4  are models, I would say the issue of whether

          5  non-profits should be covered or not is a really

          6  major one, and one could conclude not to cover them.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Right.

          8                 I'm going to move on, because I think

          9  I made my point that it has to really be studied,

         10  because you're getting into a lot of issues there.

         11                 I want to talk about the exemptions.

         12  You want to do away with the exemptions, make

         13  everything that has to be chargable is an expense;

         14  is that correct?

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes. I think we had one

         16  exception for a lawsuit that is thrust down your

         17  throat by an opponent. We thought that should still

         18  be exempt, because you don't have any control

         19  whatsoever over that.

         20                 But the idea would be, simplify the

         21  program by getting rid of the idea of exempt

         22  expenditures, which is constantly an argument that

         23  happens --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I agree with

         25  you.
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          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: And increase the amount

          3  that you can spend so that you have general purpose

          4  money, that's somewhat more eligible to spend, and

          5  you just don't have to go through -- and, frankly,

          6  in terms of spending time in order to work in the

          7  program, my observation is the candidates spend a

          8  lot of time worrying about whether something is

          9  exempt or not and this would get rid of that time

         10  wasting.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Just so I'm

         12  clear, so you want to do away with the exemptions,

         13  okay? But then why, on the other hand you're

         14  requesting that we lower the total spending in the

         15  campaign from 150 to 100. See? So, you see you are

         16  contradicting yourself here.

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ: The --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: See, that's

         19  where I'm very confused about that.

         20                 MR. SCHWARZ: I think we should make a

         21  distinction between specific suggestions we're

         22  making, like get rid of the exemption for everybody

         23  and increase the spending limit, and then the

         24  sub-headings under what Amy described as a series of

         25  proposals about the City Council, if you forget
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          2  about those proposals for the City Council, still it

          3  is still a good idea I think, and a good idea in the

          4  interest of candidates, to get rid of this

          5  exempt/non-exempt discussion. Then it's a separate

          6  question where whether one lowers the spending limit

          7  for the Council, and that's a legislative judgment

          8  you would make.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I'm just

         10  saying, if you want to do it, then you can't have

         11  both. Because then --

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ: We can't do it. These

         13  are legislative questions for you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: But your

         15  recommendations is that they contradict each other

         16  and that it doesn't make sense because if you

         17  lowered the limit to 100, and it's including no more

         18  exemptions, so now you have to run your campaign and

         19  comply with the Campaign Finance Board and do

         20  everything else out of this $100,000, you know,

         21  that's a problem.

         22                 MS. LOPREST: Again, that 100,000, as

         23  Fritz said, is really, I mean it's part of the whole

         24  City Council, you know, that wholesale change in the

         25  City Council program; so, therefore, you wouldn't --
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          2  I mean, because the whole program would be simpler

          3  for City Council, you wouldn't have so much -- you

          4  wouldn't need, have the need for all compliance,

          5  because the program would be significantly simpler

          6  for complying.

          7                 If you take aside, you know, take

          8  that, you know, that simpler City Council program as

          9  a wholesale change that, you know, put that on the

         10  table here, we would say that, you know, even if you

         11  didn't want to do the wholesale simplification, this

         12  is a significant simplification, and that without

         13  all the other simplifications, you might want to

         14  have a modest increase in the expenditure limit to

         15  accomplish that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I understand

         17  exactly what you're trying to achieve here. You

         18  know, I get it. What I'm just trying to say here is

         19  that the system is complicated because if you hire

         20  someone to do compliance, and then you call up the

         21  Campaign Finance Board for an opinion or a

         22  direction, then they tell you one thing, then when

         23  you get back to your audit, you're told it was

         24  wrong. Okay, now you have to go out and hire an

         25  attorney to advise you and that's where the
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          2  complication is all involved.

          3                 I think if you're going to simplify

          4  this, certain issues have to be taken into

          5  consideration. If the candidates campaign calls up

          6  Campaign Finance and how you assign someone to each

          7  campaign to work with that campaign, that's very

          8  good. But when you call that person up and they give

          9  you an opinion, a direction, and then you get back

         10  the audit, they tell you, you were wrong, but this

         11  is what your person told us, well, they were wrong.

         12  That was the campaign. That's how the campaign gets

         13  stuck having to hire a legal counsel for advice.

         14                 So, if you want to do away with the

         15  exemptions and make it all one part, the Campaign

         16  Finance Board, you have to do your part, is that

         17  when a campaign calls up for direction, you should

         18  put it in writing, not being told. You know, we

         19  don't put nothing in writing -- put anything in

         20  writing, excuse me. You know, I mean if you're going

         21  to clarify this or simplify this, then you have to

         22  give us reason not to go out and hire legal counsel

         23  for legal advice, because then the next thing you

         24  read in the paper, oh, so and so got fined so much

         25  money, but I understand what you want to do. It also
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          2  takes time. I don't have time to have somebody, you

          3  know, to do it myself, to sit at a computer to input

          4  everything, get everything ready. So, what I'm just

          5  trying to say here is I see what you're trying to do

          6  with the exemptions, but, you know, I think if a

          7  campaign calls up and asks for an opinion, they

          8  should get one back in writing within a reasonable

          9  time. And I also think that if you want to take away

         10  the exemptions, that you can't also lower the

         11  spending limit. It just can't happen. It just isn't

         12  right.

         13                 MS. LOPREST: Again, you know, you're

         14  right about the -- I mean, we're talking about two

         15  separate proposals.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes.

         17                 MS. LOPREST: About the lowering the

         18  spending limit and the exemptions.

         19                 You know, as far as getting things in

         20  writing, I think that, you know, we have a candidate

         21  services representative assigned to each campaign,

         22  and I think that the campaigns have found that they

         23  have a good working relationship with those people

         24  and they have the ability to get, you know, have

         25  very informal conversations with their candidate
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          2  services liaison, and in requiring in some way to

          3  have every answer put in writing would probably

          4  chill that kind of communication because once

          5  everybody wants, you know, when you want them

          6  writing, then, you know, to make sure that we're

          7  hearing the question correctly, there would be a

          8  requirement that you put something in writing, and

          9  obviously the campaigns are very busy and don't have

         10  a lot of time to put their questions in writing. So,

         11  it would, you know, to make sure we have the right

         12  context, we probably would require something in

         13  writing to get a writing back, so therefore it would

         14  delay the whole process, it would probably chill

         15  this friendly requirement, you know, back and forth

         16  that the candidates have with the candidate services

         17  liaisons and kind of return the, you know, your

         18  simple request into like a mini advisory opinion

         19  request, and, you know, things that are really, you

         20  know, are novel, are complicated, I think candidates

         21  are invited to put their request in writing and ask

         22  for an advisory opinion, which our legal staff, you

         23  know, the Board would address and would ask the

         24  Board to pass an advisory opinion if there is really

         25  a novel issue.
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          2                 I think that, you know, during the

          3  height of the election, our candidate services

          4  people are answering, you know, in the neighborhood

          5  of 58, 60 questions a day, and you really wouldn't

          6  want to delay everyone's answer by having to put

          7  everything in writing.

          8                 That being said, you know, I guess on

          9  both sides of the phone there are human beings and

         10  miscommunications happen and in our, you know, since

         11  there are human beings involved, obviously, you

         12  know, errors could happen, and I think that the

         13  staff tries very hard, you know, if there is an

         14  error to take into account when you get into the

         15  audit process or, you know, to the enforcement

         16  process, certainly.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, but,

         18  unfortunately, you know what? We get stuck with the

         19  penalty. And that's sad, because we did something

         20  based on an opinion. This is what many of my

         21  colleagues feel, that they get directions, they do

         22  it, then they get penalized.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ: I mean, it's --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So, that's an

         25  issue -- go ahead, Mr. Schwarz.
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          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I'm just now

          3  talking from my own experience, which is relatively

          4  short, and I'm sure my memory isn't perfect. But I

          5  don't remember times where the Board had the

          6  impression that long advice was given and relied on.

          7                 I mean, it tends more to come to us

          8  with sort of a vague statement by some

          9  representative of a candidate, and then when we try

         10  and check on that with the candidate services

         11  person, a disagreement on what happened, certainly

         12  if it actually occurred, and the Board thought it

         13  had occurred, that the candidate got a piece of

         14  advice, reasonably relied on it, you know, the Board

         15  exercises discretion not to impose penalties quite

         16  often, or to lower requested fines quite often

         17  because of equities.

         18                 So, I think you need to balance how

         19  often what you're talking about actually happens.

         20  And I'm not saying it could never have happened or

         21  it has never happened. So, you have to balance that

         22  against what Amy said about the worry that a

         23  requirement to put things in writing is going to

         24  slow everything down for anybody.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, this is
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          2  just one big issue between my colleagues.

          3                 Just getting to the point of a person

          4  well known and a person not well known, okay? And

          5  whether you have a real candidate challenge in you

          6  or you don't. When I first ran, there was a

          7  candidate of a republican who everyone told me I

          8  don't have anything to worry about, okay? And every,

          9  you know, we checked to see if he went on line to

         10  file his campaign financing, and the last filing he

         11  filed all this money, and at the end, he got all

         12  this money. So, then I filed a statement of need.

         13                 In another campaign that I had, all

         14  right? I'm an incumbent now, again, they filed the

         15  last minute possible.

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ: You mean filed not that

         17  they had received money but they were running?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: No, no, you

         19  have to file. See, you have to file that you were

         20  running before, right? But you're allowed to file

         21  for funds a week or two before the election. So,

         22  they waited til the last minute to file. Here I

         23  thought I didn't have a challenge, you know, wasn't

         24  a real candidate, and I respect that. If they don't

         25  raise money, I respect that. I think, you know, I
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          2  don't deserve to get matching funds. But when a

          3  candidate waits til the last minute to file all his

          4  money, and then what are you to do? You're forced to

          5  file a statement of need.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: What year was that?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: This past

          8  election.

          9                 MR. SCHWARZ: This past election.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So --

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: Was your opponent not

         12  filing disclosure?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Every

         14  disclosure didn't raise no money, didn't raise no

         15  money until the last one.

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ: And was your opponent

         17  doing things in the field?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, he was.

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, see, you could

         20  have come before us and said, and this we've done

         21  with the bonus statements, you could have said my

         22  opponent hasn't filed any documents indicating he's

         23  raising and spending money, but here is my proof

         24  that the person is, and you'd have flyers and so

         25  forth. And in that circumstance, for at least two
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          2  Councilpeople I can remember, they came in and they

          3  were seeking the bonus, and we gave it to them

          4  because the opponent couldn't respond to the fact

          5  that the opponent was spending money. So, I think in

          6  your case, if you would simply come before us and

          7  said, look, here is what I would have said, I don't

          8  want to file these statements of need. I want to get

          9  the money because my opponent is in the field

         10  spending money, we would have said, well, here is

         11  the evidence and we agree with you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: The point I'm

         13  trying to bring out here is, two; one is that they

         14  should file any money that they raise a month before

         15  the election, they can't wait until the last minute

         16  to put in their money. I think that's a rule you

         17  should look at.

         18                 And how are we supposed to know if

         19  the candidate is real or not? I mean, yes we could

         20  say, yes, if he doesn't raise money, that's one way.

         21  I'm not disagreeing with that. And believe me, if

         22  the candidate didn't raise anything but was out

         23  there handing out flyers, I wouldn't have asked for

         24  money. But when they came up with all of this money

         25  the last minute, then that's when I put my statement
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          2  of need in.

          3                 Now, yes, you could say I'm an

          4  incumbent, so what. But I'm just trying to say in

          5  this situation you never know until the last minute.

          6  So, if you're going to do something about the

          7  statement of need, then you also have to do

          8  something that say that you have to file within a

          9  certain period of time. You can't wait til the last

         10  filing.

         11                 MS. LOPREST: And they actually are

         12  legally required to file their disclosure statements

         13  and file all of their -- so, if they were raising

         14  money, you know, all along, again I don't remember

         15  exactly the circumstances in this case. But if you

         16  are filing all along, you know, if you're raising

         17  money all along, you're required to file your

         18  disclosure statements at the same schedule that, you

         19  know, the people who are participants or anybody is

         20  required. So, if anyone had knowledge that, you

         21  know, you're out in the field and you see that

         22  they're, you know, spending money and they're

         23  reporting that they spent, you know, $1,000, and you

         24  can see that they're, you know, obviously spending

         25  more --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: They reported

          3  zero.

          4                 MS. LOPREST: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: The point I'm

          6  just trying to bring out here --

          7                 MR. SCHWARZ: You were entitled to a

          8  hearing.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I'm not

         10  saying that. But the point I'm just trying to bring

         11  here, if you're going to do away with exemption, you

         12  want to do something with the statement of need, and

         13  I can understand that, I'm not disagreeing with you,

         14  I think then that also it's not fair to the other

         15  person, if at the last minute this person comes in

         16  and files a chunk of money. And I can't --

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ: We agree with you on

         18  that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So I just

         20  want to bring that point up.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: We agree with you,

         22  number one, as you described it, your opponent was

         23  not complying with the law, as you described it.

         24                 And, secondly, you could have come in

         25  to say this person is spending money. I know he or
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          2  she is spending money because here is the flyers

          3  that have gone out and so forth and so on. In that

          4  circumstance, we would have said you're entitled to

          5  the money, and the opponent would have gotten a

          6  black eye because the public proceeding where it's

          7  clear that person had not been complying.

          8                 MS. LOPREST: And that actually

          9  happened in this past election cycle, you know, that

         10  one candidate was not filing their full disclosure

         11  statements and their opponent pointed that out.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I don't want

         13  to take up more time, but I just want to bring up

         14  something to think about.

         15                 It's not my personal problems.

         16  People, listen, papers come out and they do this

         17  article, you know, that these incumbents don't need

         18  money, and meanwhile they blasted me in the paper,

         19  then, you know, my opponent got a nice percentage,

         20  and this happens all the time. That's why I'm

         21  bringing it up. It's not personal, it happens to

         22  other candidates also.

         23                 But what I want to just bring up is

         24  that I believe that making the contributions prior

         25  to an election non-matcheable, I think it's wrong. I
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          2  think that there's a constitutional issue here, I

          3  believe. But I just want to voice that for the

          4  record, and I'd be more than willing to discuss it

          5  with you. You know, I don't want to take up any more

          6  time but I do -- I would love to work with you on a

          7  lot of these issues, because I really -- change is

          8  good. I'm not disagreeing with it, and you have a

          9  very hard job to do, but also it has to be changed

         10  on both sides. Because Council members and elected

         11  officials and borough presidents, they have issues

         12  to and we just have to make this all work together.

         13                 MR. SCHWARZ: You know, Mr. Chairman,

         14  one of the reasons I am enjoying this hearing, and

         15  it is exactly what the Council should be doing, is

         16  the dialogue is just what we should be having. We're

         17  making proposals, and all of the people who have

         18  been commenting have been saying, well, here is a

         19  way in which one or more of the proposals as written

         20  doesn't quite get it. And that's what should be

         21  happening in a legislative hearing, and then what

         22  comes out of it is we work with, our people work on

         23  legislative language, and either this Committee's

         24  Counsel or the Counsel to the Council has a whole,

         25  works with us on legislative language.
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          2                 But this is exactly what the Council,

          3  I don't want to put too much of an I in, but that we

          4  created in 1989 what we wanted to happen. So, it's

          5  great.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: We hope that you

          9  continue to feel that way.

         10                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, it depends. We

         11  haven't heard from you yet, but I'm sure we will.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Can you erase

         13  that from the record, please?

         14                 Council Member Dickens.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         16  much, Mr. Chair. And I apologize for my lateness and

         17  in fact I'm going to have to leave early, because

         18  I'm in the middle of budget negotiations downstairs.

         19                 But I would like some clarification,

         20  Chairman, on a couple of things that you raised.

         21                 Number one, as it is now, the 2,750

         22  cap per person, you're recommending reducing that to

         23  $250; is that what my understanding is?

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: That's what our report

         25  says.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Uh-huh. And

          3  right now, the 2,750, actually the four to one

          4  matcheable is only up to $250 of that; is that

          5  right? So, it's really not really a four to one

          6  match. It's really a four to one match up to $250.

          7                 MR. SCHWARZ: Sure. It was originally

          8  a one-to-one match on 1,000, and the change was made

          9  in order to help smaller donors and more grassroots

         10  donations.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: That's

         12  another issue because grassroots candidates do not

         13  feel like this has really been helpful to them. But,

         14  however, if you're now recommending going down to

         15  $250, what is matcheable? Is it still up to the

         16  $250?

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right.

         19  And as far as your exemptions, what about the

         20  petition process? When you talk about exemptions,

         21  where is the petition process where someone is going

         22  after your petitions? Where is that in that mix?

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ: The one exception we

         24  make on keeping something exempt, is where you're

         25  saddled with a lawsuit I guess challenging
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          2  petitions. So that would continue --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: That's the

          4  only one exemption that you're considering.

          5                 Also, who determines who is a

          6  well-known candidate? Who makes that determination?

          7                 MR. SCHWARZ: You know, the first

          8  place, this is going to rise incredibly seldom,

          9  because as I think the dialogue we just had brings

         10  out, the real test is the opponent raising money and

         11  spending money. So, it's only in a, I think

         12  essentially hypothetical situation, which quite

         13  frankly I don't believe any one of us sitting here

         14  can think of an example where there is an opponent

         15  who has neither raised any money nor spent any

         16  money, but you, you're in the program let's say,

         17  say, well, even though this hypothetical opponent

         18  has never raised any money and never spent any

         19  money, I'm fearful that my constituents will vote

         20  for him or her just because his or her name is so

         21  well known. So, the real test is the opponent

         22  raising money and spending money.

         23                 This is just taking care of a concern

         24  that was raised when we discussed this with the

         25  Council two or three years ago, and they came up
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          2  with the Joe Dimaggio hypothetical and some other

          3  names, and we never resolved it, and now we've come

          4  up with a way that we think enables that to be

          5  resolved.

          6                 But it's essentially hypothetical.

          7  It's not going to happen.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So then it's

          9  really you that determines who is a well-known

         10  candidate. Because, see, for instance, we're

         11  elected, but there may be a candidate that never ran

         12  for public office, has been a district leader,

         13  though, in their district, and is well known. So,

         14  that's why I want to know who makes that

         15  determination; is it me because I'm familiar with my

         16  community, or is it you who is not?

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ: I want to say, again,

         18  this doesn't happen unless that person has raised,

         19  hasn't raised money and hasn't spent money.

         20                 Actually, I think there were in the

         21  draft -- there's that fly that's been all over you

         22  and now it's --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Yes, I know

         24  you thought I was waving you away. I know I gave

         25  that appearance but there really was a big horsefly
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          2  between you and I.

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: I knew it was a fly, and

          4  that's not a bad rhyme either, "horsefly between you

          5  and I."

          6                 But the, I think maybe last time

          7  there was an exception for people who had held

          8  elective office, actually, so that would be in

          9  addition to raising money an automatic -- but really

         10  think about it, have you ever heard of a situation

         11  where someone has run for City office, and has not

         12  raised a penny and hasn't spent anything at all?

         13                 There is one?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, there.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: Uh-huh.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I'm not

         17  finished, though. I'll reserve.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Sophia

         19  Williams this past year didn't raise one dime and

         20  almost beat my district leader by 40 votes. So, I

         21  could give you the 46th Assembly District, District

         22  Leader race.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Also, and

         24  this is for clarification, a candidate does not

         25  participate in campaign finance. Am I to understand
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          2  that they're still required to file, regardless of

          3  their participation?

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, they are.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Is that for

          6  City Council boroughwide, as well as Citywide?

          7                 MR. SCHWARZ: All City offices.

          8                 Like, for example, Mayor Bloomberg

          9  had to file disclosure statements, even though he

         10  was not in the program, and everybody else did.

         11                 This Council passed that some time

         12  like '04.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Well, I

         14  apologize. I wasn't here in '04.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Also, I want

         17  to kind of piggy-back on my colleague, Council

         18  Member Vallone, who raised the issue because I took

         19  exception to the analogy that you gave of comparing

         20  a City Council race with a presidential race.

         21  Presidential race has open to them the finances of a

         22  national party, a state party and even a county

         23  party. So, a City Councilperson who is running is

         24  very much acutely limited in where their resources

         25  can come from. And, so, actually I really take a
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          2  gross exception to that analogy because it's

          3  impossible. It may be 4,000 that's stated, but who

          4  pays for their races, the national party. And I was

          5  on a national committee, so I know.

          6                 MS. SCHWARZ: You know, maybe the

          7  analogy isn't helpful, but I think the main point

          8  that's helpful is that, and I'm not touching the 250

          9  for the Council number right now, but the

         10  contributions limits in the City are generally a

         11  little bit too high. And that's something which this

         12  body has focused on before and we would hope you

         13  would focus on it again. You can decide whether the

         14  250 number for the Council, with all the suggested,

         15  is or is not appropriate. But leave that aside, I

         16  hope you do decide that we should push down the

         17  contribution numbers a little bit in this City.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: In addition,

         19  I am very much concerned on what you're utilizing

         20  because in New York City, contrary to maybe some

         21  counties in even New Jersey, New York City is the

         22  high cost of a campaign, from the printing of the

         23  literature, for the mailings, for the distributions,

         24  for using of a mailing house, is all extremely,

         25  extremely high. Now, maybe in some hamlets Upstate
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          2  we can do a mailing by sitting around our kitchen

          3  table, but in New York City that's not going to

          4  happen.

          5                 So, you know, when I hear some of the

          6  limitations that you're putting on the races within

          7  New York City, I've got some serious concerns as to

          8  what you're utilizing as your barometers on what

          9  actually has to be spent in a campaign.

         10                 In addition, I know that the Campaign

         11  Finance itself, the rules, the regulations was put

         12  in force purportedly to level the playing field, but

         13  in many minority communities, they don't feel that

         14  is the case. They feel that it has limited what they

         15  can raise. They are very concerned about campaign

         16  finance, and now many minority candidates, those

         17  that are thinking about running, are now getting

         18  very focused, particularly since we are discussing

         19  now making changes, they're becoming very vocal and

         20  want to be involved in hearings because they don't

         21  feel it has leveled anything.

         22                 So, I just wanted you to be aware

         23  that there are a lot of people that do not feel that

         24  it has leveled it for them.

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: We hope that the
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          2  proposals we've made in the aggregate and

          3  individually all help with leveling the playing

          4  field. It's certainly a major objective of the

          5  program, and one of the things that we keep in mind,

          6  you know, leveling the playing field is right high

          7  up on our list of things that are important, and

          8  protecting the public fisc is something that we have

          9  to worry about.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: In addition,

         11  now just this last point, and I'll stop. I'm not an

         12  attorney and I'm not an accountant, and I have to

         13  hire somebody and that's very, very costly for me to

         14  hire someone who is knowledgeable about the campaign

         15  finance and the regulations to ensure that I am not

         16  in any violation to get hit with some of those

         17  exorbitant fees that are piled on. So, you know, I

         18  want that to be part of your thinking, when you're

         19  talking about these exemptions, because that's

         20  costly. Very costly.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: We're conscience of that

         22  and, you know, one can't remove all the

         23  complexities. We hope we can help you to pass

         24  legislation that reduce the complexities.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Mr. Schwarz, if
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          2  you can pull the mike a little closer to you.

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Council Member

          5  Lappin, thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman. I really appreciate this opportunity,

          8  particularly since I'm not a member of the

          9  community.

         10                 I want to, since nobody has of yet,

         11  to bring up the question of the audits, and sort of

         12  a time frame for audits. And, you know, we have a

         13  child coming in spring, and soon to be nursery

         14  that's filled with boxes of cancelled checks and

         15  photocopies and other things.

         16                 So, I guess I wanted to ask you how,

         17  why does it take so long? My primary was 14 months

         18  ago, my general election was over a year ago. We got

         19  our draft audit report in October. So, why does it

         20  take that long? What's happening in your end on that

         21  time frame?

         22                 MR. SCHWARZ: I'm not competent to

         23  answer that question as well as Amy and my other

         24  colleagues can.

         25                 MS. LOPREST: Well, you know, let me
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          2  say first that after the 2001 election, we added to

          3  our own rules a rule that says that to the extent

          4  practicable, the Board would finish all the draft

          5  audits by the year after the election, and we will

          6  meet that goal, that all the draft audits will go

          7  out by then.

          8                 Also, because the last disclosure

          9  statement is on January 15th or the year after the

         10  election, really in order to avoid asking you

         11  questions about something that's going to be

         12  answered in that January disclosure statement, we

         13  really don't want to send the draft audits before

         14  that January disclosure statement comes in and we

         15  have an opportunity to review it.

         16                 That being said, I think our audit

         17  staff has worked very hard to complete the audits in

         18  a timely fashion. You know, if you look, we've taken

         19  a look at historically over the years, and we have

         20  included the speed at which the audits are being

         21  completed, and as far as finishing them, we've

         22  finished quite a number of the 2005 audits already.

         23  If you look on our website, about 90 final audits

         24  have been issued.

         25                 We also don't want to, you know,
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          2  finish the audits at a speed that compromises one of

          3  the candidate's ability to have a full and fair

          4  opportunity to answer the questions that are in the

          5  audit at the time. I mean, I understand that

          6  candidates need and are granted extensions of time

          7  to answer their audit, because they need the time to

          8  answer and we wouldn't want to, you know, put a

          9  deadline and therefore be unable to accommodate, you

         10  know, the realistic needs of people to have an

         11  extension of time.

         12                 At the same time, sometimes the

         13  audits bring up complicated issues that require

         14  additional investigation, and in the Board's

         15  important role of protecting the public fisc, you

         16  know, sometimes that investigation could take longer

         17  than I think, you know, makes everyone happy.

         18                 So, we really have striven very hard

         19  and I think have achieved making the audit process a

         20  quicker process. But, again, we really wouldn't want

         21  to, you know, put a burden on the candidates not to

         22  be able to fully respond or really not do our full

         23  job or due diligence to the taxpayers to make sure

         24  that the public money is spent appropriately.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: No, --

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: Right, and --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Sorry. Go

          4  ahead.

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: No, you go ahead.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: No, I mean I

          7  understand that's appropriate, and I think granting

          8  candidates an extension, in terms of responding,

          9  that's sort of a separate issue, it's just you hit a

         10  certain time frame where it becomes, you're asking

         11  legitimate questions in your audits, and it's

         12  appropriate for you to, as the people who are

         13  guarding the public's money, but it becomes harder

         14  to answer those questions when more time elapses

         15  because the people who are working with you may not

         16  be around any more, may not be accessible any more.

         17  It's harder to locate documents. It becomes, I

         18  think, more difficult as time goes by.

         19                 I mean, my Deputy Campaign Manager is

         20  now in Iowa, so it's hard for me to find some of the

         21  things I think you are fairly requesting, that's not

         22  the issue, it's just the more time that elapses, the

         23  more difficult it becomes to actually answer the

         24  questions.

         25                 MS. LOPREST: And we understand that,
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          2  and that's sort of the where the year for the drafts

          3  came in. I mean, you know, also, you know, while the

          4  audits are, you know, people are always afraid. You

          5  know, nobody likes to be audited. You know, it's

          6  always a -- we really have one additional thing that

          7  we've done this year, is we've instituted a training

          8  for how to respond to the audits. So, to help

          9  candidates respond, we now have a training program,

         10  the same as we have the training program for when

         11  your joining the program, we have a training to help

         12  you understand the audit process, and you know,

         13  actually understand the physical document of the

         14  audit.

         15                 So, I mean, we're trying to help

         16  people respond. But I do understand that memories

         17  fade, but we are going to be probably, in 2001 we

         18  did audit 280 campaigns and for the 2005 elections,

         19  we'll be auditing in the neighborhood of 200

         20  campaigns. And, so, there is, the idea of

         21  prioritizing, is always an important issue, but

         22  there is some time to, you know, work through those

         23  200 audits.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Now, I

         25  understand, and I know you have a lot of work to do
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          2  after the elections conclude. It's just that in the

          3  end we're responsible for answering those questions,

          4  and maybe six months later, maybe I have a chance of

          5  tracking someone down and finding out why they

          6  didn't cash a check.

          7                 But, you know, 14 months later it's a

          8  lot harder to track that person down and ask them

          9  why they didn't cash the check, and do you have the

         10  check?

         11                 So, I just put that out there. I

         12  understand what you're saying, you know, from the

         13  participating candidate's perspective, you know,

         14  when trying to do our best to comply and answer your

         15  questions, it just becomes a whole lot harder.

         16                 MS. LOPREST: And we understand that.

         17                 MR. SCHWARZ: You know, the Board has

         18  often expressed a desire to have things go faster

         19  and it's certainly being handled in total good faith

         20  in the staff, and I sometimes wondered whether if

         21  you appropriated more money for more auditors, that

         22  would make a difference.

         23                 But it's not easy to get -- we have

         24  some superb auditors, but I think you've

         25  experimented with contracting out the auditing and

                                                            82

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  it hasn't worked very well.

          3                 MS. LOPREST: I think that we put in

          4  our budget request what we anticipate we need for

          5  audit staff, and you know, we do have a superb audit

          6  staff that's been under the direction of Julia Spiel

          7  (phonetic) for a long period of time. And we did

          8  experiment in 2001, because we knew there was going

          9  to be a large volume of audits having outside

         10  auditors, and that really was confusing to the

         11  candidates and, you know, didn't actually work out

         12  so well. So, we decided that it is quicker to do it

         13  in-house.

         14                 But we understand that people's, you

         15  know, memories fade and it's harder to get answers

         16  and that's why we try and do them as quickly as

         17  possible.

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ: I mean, you know, now

         19  I'm going to sound like a broken record, but if you

         20  do get rid of the exempt expenditures issue, it is

         21  something which is one of the most complicated and

         22  one of the most contentious parts of the audit, and,

         23  you know, that's not a sufficient reason for doing

         24  it, but it would have an incremental impact

         25  favorable on the point you're raising.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Councilman

          3  Recchia.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I just want

          5  to say, getting back to these exemptions again, you

          6  know, just sitting here and listening to you, what

          7  I'm saying is that if we do away with the

          8  exemptions, then I think the expenditures have to go

          9  up.

         10                 MR. SCHWARZ: We agree with that. Not

         11  enormously, but they do have to go up. We agree with

         12  that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Right. So, I

         14  think that your proposal to pull that the spending

         15  for the City Council race from 150 to 200 should be

         16  withdrawn, and we should move up from the 150 to

         17  another number.

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ: It's a separate issue.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay, we'll

         20  sit down and talk about this.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: But your logic is good.

         22  It is a separate issue, though. But we do agree that

         23  whatever the proper spending limit is, that number

         24  has to go up somewhat to reflect the fact that the

         25  exempt expenditures have been removed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: After this

          3  year. All right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          5  much. I haven't asked anything, and I know, Mr.

          6  Schwarz, you and your colleagues were disappointed I

          7  had nothing to say.

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So, I just, in no

         10  particular order, I have a hodge-podge of questions,

         11  some based on the information, others not.

         12                 The fellow who came up, I'm sorry I

         13  forgot your name, who gave the five percent, 22

         14  percent.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: Eric Friedman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Can you come back

         17  to the table? If you'd like to sit down, pull up a

         18  chair, and explain how you got those numbers?

         19                 MS. LOPREST: I can probably answer

         20  that question.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes, but he

         22  didn't have a chance to talk that much.

         23                 MS. LOPREST: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So we want to

         25  give him a chance.
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          2                 MS. LOPREST: Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: And just identify

          4  yourself again, please.

          5                 MR. FRIEDMAN: My name is Eric

          6  Friedman. I work as Press Secretary at the Board.

          7                 Basically what we did was took the

          8  numbers from, we took --

          9                 MS. LOPREST: I'm sorry, if you'll

         10  indulge me a little bit, let me just give a little

         11  background before Eric speaks.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I don't need it.

         13  It's okay.

         14                 MS. LOPREST: No, what we did is we --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: No, no, because

         16  people are very tired. I don't want to hear the

         17  background.

         18                 MS. LOPREST: But you want --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: If I need more

         20  information, I'll ask you. I promise.

         21                 MS. LOPREST: He's talking about a

         22  Commission study that the Board did with the

         23  graduate students from NYU.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes, but it's

         25  okay. It's all right. Don't worry.
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          2                 MR. FRIEDMAN: We studied contributors

          3  to all offices for the 2001 and the 2005 elections.

          4  What we did is took a random sampling of

          5  contributors to each office. And then we matched

          6  those against the Vendex database maintained by the

          7  Mayor's Office.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So, in other

          9  words, you used the only information that you say

         10  you have, which is the contracts, to determine that

         11  number; is that true?

         12                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes. If anything,

         13  because, you know, you're only able to access the

         14  Vendex database through their on-line interface, we

         15  didn't have any of the broad data, so because of,

         16  you know, the data doesn't always match up.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Right.

         18                 MR. FRIEDMAN: You know, the spellings

         19  of the names, their addresses are different. If

         20  anything, those numbers are understated.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: No problem. Thank

         22  you very much for the information. Don't leave yet.

         23                 So, it would seem clear to me that

         24  the study, as far as I'm concerned, the study may be

         25  understated or overstated. I have no idea. It
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          2  doesn't mean anything to me whatsoever. The numbers

          3  --

          4                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It has to be

          5  understated --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Excuse me, just

          7  for a minute, please.

          8                 I have no idea, because the only

          9  information you based it on was on the Vendex,

         10  right?

         11                 MR. FRIEDMAN: That's correct. Vendex

         12  and the lobbyist database.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay, very good.

         14                 So, the study itself is a study based

         15  on a small population; is that true? Of the

         16  contributors.

         17                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It's a random sampling.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: A random sampling

         19  is fine. There is nothing wrong with a random

         20  sampling. I'm going to ask about that later.

         21                 But it's certainly a random sampling

         22  of a very articulate group of contributors; is that

         23  true?

         24                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I'm not sure I

         25  understand.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Oh, I'll make it

          3  very simple. You have the contract, right? Vendex?

          4  That's one source of information, and then you said

          5  there was lobbyists as well, some of them.

          6                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: What proportion

          8  of the entire population of contributors does that

          9  represent?

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, let me say, the

         11  reason we used the random sampling is because --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: No, I have no

         13  problem with the random sampling. I'm talking about

         14  the pool that you took the sampling from.

         15                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It's all contributors.

         16  That's the population we're talking about. We're

         17  talking about all contributors of all amounts to all

         18  offices.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay.

         20                 The study was based on two sources of

         21  information. One, the only database that the City

         22  has for you to use, which is the Vendex relating to

         23  contracts, right? Doesn't it include necessarily

         24  Land Use lawyers who are not lobbyists, or a lot of

         25  other people? And then you use the lobbyists, right?
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          2                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: What portion, an

          4  estimation, of the total contributors to candidates

          5  did that represent?

          6                 MS. LOPREST: Maybe it's just not

          7  clear. We took, there is a third source of data. We

          8  took all of the data that have been reported as

          9  contributions to the Campaign Finance Board, and the

         10  sample of contributors was drawn in that pool, every

         11  contributor to a City Council Mayor, Borough

         12  President, Public Advocate, Comptroller candidate,

         13  that the sample of contributors was drawn from that

         14  pool, and then compared to the data that was

         15  available in the lobbyist and Vendex databases.

         16                 And from that, the number that we

         17  were talking about earlier with Councilman Recchia

         18  of 5.3 percent of all contributors, and 22 percent

         19  of all contributions are people who we could -- of

         20  your contributors, that we could find in those two

         21  databases.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I understood that

         23  the first time, and I appreciated your clarifying it

         24  anyway. All I'm saying to you is repeating the same

         25  thing I said to you the first time. That the survey,
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          2  or the sample is not perfect by any means. It leaves

          3  a lot to be desired in the absence of anything

          4  better, you did whatever you could with whatever you

          5  had. But, to me, I don't find it to mean much. Based

          6  on the fact that you didn't have enough information.

          7  The pool that you had was not enough to take it

          8  from. That's all. I'm not grilling you. I'm not

          9  being adversarial at this point. I'll let you know.

         10  At this point I'm not.

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: Mr. Chairman, by

         12  definition it has to be an understatement, because

         13  if at the top of the line is dollars, it's a random

         14  sample, but it's dollars from people in the Vendex

         15  and people in the lobbyist contribution. At the

         16  bottom of the line is dollars from all contributors,

         17  so we know the top of the line is low, because

         18  principally it doesn't include any people who were

         19  seeking Land Use advantages from the City. So, the

         20  number has to be an understatement.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I have to digest

         22  that.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I don't want to

         25  agree with you yet.

                                                            91

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: You don't.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I have to think

          4  about it, but I heard what you said. You can either

          5  go or come back, it's up to you. You may as well

          6  stay, all right? Especially the young woman who was

          7  sitting there likes you sitting there instead,

          8  right?

          9                 Anyway, other areas. The audits that

         10  you do do, for example -- now a new subject, you

         11  know, we're just jumping. And I want to repeat that

         12  something that Mr. Schwarz said earlier, is that by

         13  and far the people that you do assign to be in

         14  contact with candidates or their representatives try

         15  to be as helpful as they can, and that's good. But

         16  the audits, the audits, we're talking about sample

         17  audits now, all right? Nothing to do with the

         18  information discussed before.

         19                 When audits are done, an audit is

         20  supposed to be done, in my mind, based on a sample.

         21  You don't go through every single item and decide,

         22  well, item number one, item number two, item number

         23  three, item number four, where is this? How many

         24  checks? Where did this check, this check was not

         25  turned -- that's how I believe you do an audit. And
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          2  my beliefs aren't only based on the particular mood

          3  I'm in right now, but I did audits for ten years.

          4  So, I have something at least that I can say.

          5  Council Member Dickens said she's not a lawyer and

          6  accountant, unfortunately I am a CPA and I did

          7  audits. To me, in my mind, for the Board to spend

          8  time going through each item, which is very often

          9  what they do, I don't think that makes sense. I

         10  don't think that's something that makes sense, to go

         11  through each item. To me what makes sense is that

         12  you go through random, as you said, random sample.

         13  You pick items in every category. You pick them. You

         14  see whether, you know, there's compliance, and if

         15  there's compliance, then you make an assumption that

         16  that particular candidate or the person who was

         17  working on that campaign did things the right way

         18  not going through each item.

         19                 You know, someone has to explain that

         20  to me.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: I'm not competent to do

         22  that one either.

         23                 MS. LOPREST: And I will tell you that

         24  I am not -- I'm a lawyer but I'm not an accountant,

         25  so I think that the Board process is intended for
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          2  two things. I mean, one mandate of the Board is to

          3  ensure that the public has the full public

          4  disclosure of that, the City Council has wisely put

          5  into the act, and so in order to make sure

          6  everything that a candidate has done, there is, you

          7  know, that you disclose properly all of your

          8  transactions.

          9                 Whether there is some audit method of

         10  doing that in a different way than the way we do it,

         11  I really don't know. I mean that's something we can

         12  look into.

         13                 But also, the other issue --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Excuse me, can I

         15  just stop you a minute? I'm sorry for interrupting

         16  you.

         17                 Can you just ask me whether my

         18  presentation, can you answer was I exaggerating or

         19  was that exactly how you do the audits? Do you go

         20  through each item? Or the majority of items?

         21                 MS. LOPREST: You know, we don't look

         22  at every transaction, but we do --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do you go through

         24  the majority of the items?

         25                 MS. LOPREST: Yes, and --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay. So, let me

          3  just interrupt you. About what you just said, I

          4  don't remember offhand, because I haven't been a

          5  practicing CPA for a long time. But there's gap and

          6  there's general accounting, audit principles, it's

          7  not my idea about taking samplings of things to be

          8  able to determine the veracity of whether something

          9  is right or wrong.

         10                 So, when you say about whether I have

         11  an idea of some audit procedure or other, I'm not

         12  asking you to necessarily follow the Felder audit

         13  principles, but I think that general accounting or

         14  audit principles, if they are applied the same way,

         15  some of the audits that I have seen of a particular

         16  candidate who will remain nameless, and other

         17  candidates, seems to me that you are not applying

         18  the same audit principles that are normally applied,

         19  and I don't understand that.

         20                 MS. LOPREST: I was just about to try

         21  and explain. One issue is public disclosure, and in

         22  order to make sure that all transactions are

         23  properly disclosed, you do have to look at the

         24  transaction.

         25                 In addition, you know, in order to
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          2  make sure that public funds are spent appropriately,

          3  I mean we do do some sampling when you do have to

          4  document. But that being said, you do have to

          5  document if you got $82,000 in public funds, you are

          6  going to have to document each transaction to show

          7  that that $82,000 in public funds was spent

          8  appropriately. And you know, in order to make sure

          9  the public, who is giving the candidates, you know,

         10  $82,000 for their election, that that money was

         11  really spent on the election, and that is the theory

         12  behind looking at it.

         13                 And I understand, you know, gap, and

         14  that there are, you know, audit principles, I'm just

         15  saying that the theory is that we have a mandate

         16  that is not the same as, you know, a business. A

         17  business doesn't have, you know, a public disclosure

         18  obligation, and they also don't have their -- they

         19  don't have the obligation to ensure that public

         20  money is spent appropriately.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Look, I don't

         22  want to belabor this issue. Let me just tell you

         23  that if any government agency, including the

         24  Campaign Finance Board, ran as efficiently as most

         25  businesses ran, we would be a lot better off.
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          2                 For you to say to me that the reason

          3  you, that you have an extra mandate or extra

          4  responsibility and that's why you're going through

          5  it with a fine toothcomb, I don't accept that. I

          6  accept that this City, people in this City want to

          7  make sure that their money is spent well. And if

          8  there are general accounting and audit principles

          9  that state that if you take an ex-number sample of

         10  things, you can make a rational and a reasonable

         11  assumption that things are fine, you should not be

         12  spending City money doing it any other way. That's

         13  my opinion, okay?

         14                 Having said that, next question. Mr.

         15  Schwarz mentioned something about authority to

         16  impose, or some sort of law on the candidates if

         17  we're unable to somehow legislate it on our own, I

         18  just wanted to mention that there are differing

         19  opinions as to whether your authority expired in

         20  that area specifically.

         21                 So, I would just say that the

         22  motivation for the Council doing it would be more

         23  than just the fact that you can do it and then the

         24  onus on us, I think that there is discussion as to

         25  whether you can do it period. And if it's something
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          2  that should be done, then certainly we should do it.

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, my main point is

          4  it's something that should be done, and it's done

          5  much better by you than by us.

          6                 I know the Counsel, Corporation

          7  Counsel has the position that we are still under

          8  that obligation. I could understand arguments the

          9  other way. So, it's a legitimate question, let's

         10  hope it's a hypothetical and interesting legal

         11  question, whichever is reached, because I hope

         12  you're going to want to act in a sensible and

         13  limited and responsible way on the doing business.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Are you still

         15  happy about the dialogue we're having?

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ: I am.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay. I just

         18  wanted to make sure.

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ: That's a question that

         20  is certainly a legitimate question.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: No, because at

         22  the point that you decide that you're not, I'll stop

         23  talking. You just let me know.

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: How would I indicate

         25  that?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: You just go

          3  something like this, okay? All right? I'll get the

          4  hint.

          5                 Okay, some other questions, please.

          6                 The issue, a little earlier, you

          7  mentioned when the issues came up about people

          8  calling the Board for opinions and then thinking

          9  that they're supposed to do something and then at

         10  the end finding out that they were fined for doing

         11  it the way they thought, the miscommunication, would

         12  you be amenable to very easily taking care of it by

         13  having any time, unless it's something so basic

         14  where some candidate or representative called up and

         15  says da da da da da, and if you say, well, if you

         16  look on page 12 it says specifically where that,

         17  there is obviously no need for communication, but if

         18  there's something a little fuzzy where you would say

         19  that the candidate or rep can just e-mail you

         20  something and say, Dear Simcha, I just spoke to you

         21  at Campaign Finance Board, I asked you X, Y, Z, and

         22  you said, A, B, C. And if you don't write back, then

         23  that doesn't mean that the employees at Campaign

         24  Finance cannot make a mistake, because even Council

         25  members make mistakes. But what it would do, at
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          2  least, is for the members and their representatives,

          3  that at the end if there was some fine imposed, it

          4  would be clear as day that there was no

          5  miscommunication that maybe somebody made a mistake.

          6  And if you make a mistake, you pay up and that's the

          7  end of it.

          8                 So, that would not -- you talk about

          9  a chill, that sent a chill up my spine. I don't

         10  think any of your employees it will create a chill

         11  in the conversation. As long as the employees don't

         12  feel that if God forbid they make a mistake, they

         13  lose a job. They shouldn't, because everyone does.

         14  And they should feel comfortable enough because with

         15  good people leading the Board, such as yourself and

         16  your colleagues, you will obviously, and have, made

         17  your employees comfortable enough to feel that they

         18  can feel free to have an open conversation, because

         19  they are competent enough to answer a question

         20  without feeling that somebody is going to cut their

         21  necks off in the end.

         22                 So, it's a very simple solution. How

         23  do you feel about that?

         24                 MS. LOPREST: Let me see if I

         25  understand correctly your solution. That, you know,
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          2  you call me and then at the end of our conversation

          3  you send me an e-mail saying this is what you told

          4  me? You know, that's fine. People have actually done

          5  that.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, it sounds to me

          7  like an excellent suggestion that, you know, we

          8  should inform people they can do that.

          9                 MS. LOPREST: Yes. I mean, the people

         10  have --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: It should be

         12  standard procedure.

         13                 MS. LOPREST: I mean, accountants have

         14  done that in the past, sent an e-mail, you know,

         15  saying, you k now, clarifying this is what we said.

         16  Because when you send, you know what your question

         17  was and you know what we said, so you send that and

         18  we put that in our files. It has happened.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: The reason I am

         20  saying it, for the record, is that I'm asking for

         21  you, without anything, to please put out a memo to

         22  your employees who are wonderful, telling them that

         23  when they get these memos from people they shouldn't

         24  get upset, that this is a good idea and in fact when

         25  they're on the phone with candidates or their
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          2  representatives, they should offer it. This is a

          3  great thing. Campaign Finance employees should say,

          4  look, I think this is the answer. It doesn't mean

          5  I'm certain. If you want, you can send me an e-mail

          6  confirming what I said, and this way if in the

          7  future there is an audit, at least you'll know I

          8  answered you to the best of my ability, and that's

          9  the end of it.

         10                 So, if you can do that, I think that

         11  would be of great help.

         12                 MS. LOPREST: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 Another issue about non-participants

         16  and audits for non-participants.

         17                 Now, I have spoken to some of the

         18  lawyers at the State Board of Elections. This is my

         19  favorite topic of discussion. I see Sue Ellen is

         20  shaking her head, and I even got a smile out of you

         21  on this one. I've spoken to the lawyers at the State

         22  Board of Elections who have said to me emphatically

         23  that they don't believe that you have the authority

         24  to do some of what you're doing.

         25                 Now, we're going to bring them into
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          2  New York City at some point to be able to spend some

          3  time together with the Council and you at a hearing

          4  to see what the story is. But one area that doesn't

          5  make sense to me at all is the area where you have

          6  non-participating candidates and audits of

          7  non-participating candidates.

          8                 Now, the disclosure portion, it was

          9  clear from some of the questions of my colleagues

         10  about how important the disclosure is. And that's

         11  not difficult, because if a candidate is

         12  non-participating, and they file, they are mandated

         13  to file with the State, you know, and the City, I

         14  should say, as part of the State Board of Elections,

         15  it's no big deal to say to them, hey, you know what?

         16  When you file with the City Board of Elections,

         17  you've got to file it with us.

         18                 You know, what's the big deal? I

         19  mean, somebody can get it. The other way you just,

         20  in fact, the CFB, by putting it on their site, you

         21  can get it easily, more easily than the going down

         22  to the Board of Elections and paying them 15 cents a

         23  copy or something like that. That I understand, and

         24  that's not a big deal.

         25                 But the audits, I don't understand.
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          2  Where do you get the mandate to audit

          3  non-participants? I don't get it. What is the

          4  purpose of that? They are not getting any money from

          5  you, why are you auditing non-participants?

          6                 Again, I want to make it clear. The

          7  disclosure portion I understand. Because some of

          8  these situations would be complicated, and generally

          9  this way people could just go on the site and find

         10  it.

         11                 But the State has the right to audit

         12  every one of those, every one of those filings.

         13  That's a fact.

         14                 Now, I know and you know that they

         15  don't do it often, if at all, but that's a fact.

         16                 So, the State can come in and audit,

         17  and you can come in and audit; can you explain that?

         18                 MS. LOPREST: Well, one of the

         19  reasons, I mean if you were talking about the

         20  purpose, the purpose of the audit is exactly what I

         21  described to you before about, that to make sure the

         22  disclosure is correct. And also, non-participants

         23  are bound by the same contribution limits and

         24  restrictions as participants, so the audit is to

         25  make sure there is compliance with the contribution
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          2  limits and the contribution restrictions.

          3                 And I know Sue Ellen will correct me

          4  if I'm wrong, but if in the law, the law that was

          5  passed in 2004 gave the Board the authority to audit

          6  a non-participant and especially for those two

          7  reasons, to make sure that your disclosure is

          8  appropriate, and to make sure that there is

          9  compliance with the contribution limits and

         10  restrictions.

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: I know we got at -- we,

         12  not we, the City Council got an opinion from Richard

         13  Brufault (phonetic), who is the Vice Dean of the

         14  Columbia Law School. He is an expert on State and

         15  Local Government, and he's an expert on preemption

         16  questions. And his opinion was that the Council had

         17  power to do what it did. That's a little different

         18  than your question.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Let me just say

         20  that the 2004 law, everybody who knows anything

         21  about that knows that that was done specifically to

         22  force the Mayor, you know, in an election to force a

         23  non-participant who is wealthy to be able to be on a

         24  public record of not where they got their money,

         25  that was very obvious.
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          2                 Now, if you said to me that you're

          3  concerned about the disclosures, about the

          4  contributions, okay, why do you need to audit the

          5  expenses? Why should you do that on a

          6  non-participant?

          7                 MS. LOPREST: I mean, it's the

          8  two-fold. It's the compliance with the contribution

          9  limits and restrictions and audit disclosure.

         10                 I guess Councilman Recchia, who has

         11  left, I don't know if the person he was talking

         12  about was a non-participant, but if they had

         13  continued to file disclosure statements that said,

         14  you know, I had no spending at all, and that was

         15  what the public knew, and we didn't have the right

         16  to audit them, and we didn't audit their

         17  expenditures, the public would never know that they

         18  actually had failed to fulfill their mandate --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: No, I'm sorry.

         20  I'm sorry. You just mixed together two things.

         21  Obligation to -- I'm saying that they would be

         22  obligated to file their disclosures, as they have.

         23  Your interest, or you feel your legal right to audit

         24  them is a separate thing. It has nothing to do, and

         25  Councilman Recchia's case has nothing to do with my
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          2  telling you that I don't think that you have the

          3  right. I don't believe you have the right to audit.

          4  The issues of the disclosures I believe makes sense.

          5  But that the Campaign Finance Board has enough work

          6  to do, and they should focus on the disclosure, the

          7  filings and as well of those people that are getting

          8  money.

          9                 But if someone is non-participating,

         10  you shouldn't be spending the time figuring out how

         11  they spent their money or not. That should be left

         12  to the State. That's my point.

         13                 We're going to let this go because my

         14  lawyer said we should let this go. All right.

         15                 Finally.

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ: You remind me of myself,

         17  because I always say many more things than the

         18  people sitting next to me think is appropriate. But

         19  in general it served well, so it's a good thing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: All right. My

         21  condolences.

         22                 Would you please provide us with a

         23  list of campaign expenditures that would be lawful

         24  under State Law that would not be lawful under the

         25  Campaign Finance Act? And if you can't provide that
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          2  information to us right now, if you could send it to

          3  me in writing, I would appreciate it.

          4                 In fact, I would even prefer that you

          5  don't tell it to me now.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: That you give it

          8  to me in writing. Just so that it could be

          9  distributed to the other people here as well.

         10                 And, finally, I just want to make

         11  them curious.

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ: I haven't touched my

         13  head like you suggested I do.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: One final

         15  question, and this was an issue that Councilman

         16  Fidler had raised.

         17                 There is a discussion about

         18  challenging petitions, but it's really very murky

         19  area about when you feel -- when you're trying to

         20  challenge somebody else's petitions, when you

         21  believe that they are fraudulent, and the cost

         22  relating to that.

         23                 So, if your suggestion that those

         24  exempt areas get eliminated entirely, then my

         25  question is moot, because that would probably fall

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  into that area; is that true or not?

          3                 MS. LOPREST: I mean, the specific

          4  issue that I think Councilman Fidler is bringing up

          5  is, you know, we provide, our recommendation is

          6  that, you know, you do away with all exempt

          7  expenditures, except for the area of where you're

          8  defending ballot petition litigation, however, I

          9  agree that there could be some discussion and some

         10  useful discussion on whether or not it is

         11  appropriate to also exempt when you are bringing

         12  affirmative litigation on ballot petitions, you

         13  know, in the case of fraud. And that's an issue

         14  that, you know, as we were talking, you know, it's

         15  one of those things that would be worked out

         16  legislatively, but I think that there is good

         17  arguments on both sides, why you would include that

         18  in our single exemption.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So, I would just

         20  appreciate that very much, because I don't know.

         21  Many of my colleagues have had those situations

         22  where they're really bogged down with spending money

         23  running against a candidate, and before you want to

         24  waste anyone's money, you want to make sure that

         25  that person really belongs on the ballot.
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          2                 I don't have any other questions, and

          3  none of my colleagues are here, so I just want to

          4  thank you very much for sticking around for such a

          5  long time and we appreciate working together with

          6  you on this bill, to hammer it out.

          7                 I would also appreciate it if

          8  somebody from your staff could remain to listen at

          9  least to some of the testimony.

         10                 MS. LOPREST: Yes, we will have staff

         11  remain.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very,

         13  very much.

         14                 MR. SCHWARZ: I thought this was just

         15  a first rate hearing, and I really appreciate the

         16  spirit in which it was conducted and the kind of

         17  dialogue that occurred.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Well, Mr.

         19  Schwarz, I appreciated the fact that I could go home

         20  and say that you said that I remind you of yourself

         21  to my wife.

         22                 MR. SCHWARZ: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I appreciate

         24  that.

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: Good.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I'm just going to

          3  say there's a normal man who works in the City.

          4                 Okay, the first we have Megan

          5  Quattlebaum from Common Cause, and Douglas Israel

          6  from Citizens Union, and Gene Russianoff from

          7  NYPIRG.

          8                 I just want to mention to the people

          9  who are coming up to testify that we're limiting it

         10  to three minutes, and if you can make sure that the

         11  testimony that you're -- that your testimony adds to

         12  whatever else has been said, it would be greatly

         13  appreciated.

         14                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Okay, I was given

         15  ladies first. So, good afternoon, Chairperson Felder

         16  and I would say your colleagues. Well, your

         17  colleagues. Thank you so much for the opportunity to

         18  present testimony to you this afternoon. I just want

         19  to say, I'm going to focus really very tightly on

         20  Common Cause's support of specific recommendations

         21  that the Campaign Finance Board made in its report

         22  on the 2005 election. I just want to quickly make

         23  the point that New York City Campaign Finance

         24  Program is and remains a national model. It's one

         25  we're extremely proud of. It's one we've worked hard
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          2  with the Council, with the Mayor, with the Campaign

          3  Finance Board, to continually improve, and we really

          4  appreciate the opportunity that these hearings

          5  provide to continue revisiting the Campaign Finance

          6  Program and after every election, to continue

          7  improving upon it. It's a very proud tradition. It's

          8  one we're glad to have participated in over the

          9  years and one we're very glad the Council is

         10  continuing. So, I did just want to say that.

         11                 I also want, again I just want to

         12  focus on some recommendations made by the Board in

         13  its report and our support of them, and I want to

         14  urge that one thing we think is very important is

         15  that the Council deal with these issues

         16  comprehensively in a single package of legislation,

         17  rather than just addressing the single issue of

         18  administration of the law. That's the way it's been

         19  done historically. That's the way we think it's best

         20  done.

         21                 The issue of doing business was

         22  widely discussed today, and I just wanted to

         23  emphasize that Common Cause wholeheartedly agrees

         24  with the Campaign Finance Board, and I think with

         25  the Council, that this is an issue that is much
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          2  better dealt with legislatively. The point was made,

          3  it's an incredibly valid one, that were the Campaign

          4  Finance Board to do this, the only way they would be

          5  able to do it would place quite a burden on

          6  candidates who are participating in this program.

          7                 We think that the way New Jersey,

          8  Connecticut and the SEC have approached Pay to Play

          9  legislation is much more appropriate. It takes the

         10  burden off the candidate, candidates are not trying

         11  to figure out if every contribution is fair or foul,

         12  the burden is on the contributor, it is appropriate

         13  the contributor, if they break the law they can't

         14  keep or get a contract. It's fair. It's simple.

         15  There are many models in the area. So, we would

         16  encourage you to look at that very vital issue and

         17  to deal with it legislatively because it would seem

         18  that the Campaign Finance Board otherwise does have

         19  to deal with it.

         20                 We also support the Board's

         21  recommendation that would create escalating tiers

         22  for the disbursement of public funds for candidates

         23  who face low-spending opponents. We think this issue

         24  still continues to be a valid one for reasons that

         25  were mentioned throughout the day, and that the
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          2  Council's proposal is a reasonable one.

          3                 Okay, I'll make three more points. We

          4  support the Board's recommendation that contribution

          5  limits be lowered. We do recognize that there are

          6  completely unreasonable contribution limits for

          7  state level offices, however, we don't feel that

          8  that is a model that the City should wish to follow.

          9  We've staken out special territory in this City,

         10  being better than much of the nation in how we deal

         11  with Campaign Finance, and we should never, I would

         12  say Albany is one of the lowest common denominators

         13  of Campaign Finance Reform, to which we should never

         14  attempt to pare ourselves.

         15                 Intermediaries, we agree with the

         16  Board that the definition of intermediaries is too

         17  limited. This definition should include not just

         18  those who deliver contributions, but those outside

         19  of official staff who successfully solicit them.

         20                 We also agree with the recommendation

         21  to end exempt expenditures. So, I will limit my

         22  remarks to that, but thank you, again, for allowing

         23  me to speak today.

         24                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I'm Gene Russianoff

         25  with the New York Public Interest Research Group,
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          2  and I won't extend my time by saying nice things

          3  about the Council.

          4                 Interestingly enough, I've been

          5  through every process the Council has in reviewing

          6  this law since its passage in 1988, and I think

          7  there's a proud record of the Council approving the

          8  law and adding important changes, like the

          9  requirement that Citywide candidates debate if they

         10  receive public money, and the current four to one

         11  match.

         12                 In my testimony I lay out some of the

         13  things that I am hoping the Council will do, and I

         14  echo Megan's comment that we hope it's a

         15  comprehensive bill, because usually that's been the

         16  history of it. They've all hung together as part of

         17  a package.

         18                 So, on the key issue of doing

         19  business, we again share the view that this is a

         20  matter that should be dealt with by the Legislature,

         21  not the Campaign Finance Board, and for the reasons

         22  that Megan stated, the burden should really be on --

         23  should not be on the candidate on this one.

         24                 I suggest in my testimony that one

         25  way to help advance the issue, if not to resolve it,
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          2  is by passing legislation that gives the City

          3  Administration deadlines to refine and develop

          4  needed databases. I think we learned in the lobbyist

          5  listing that it's not an easy matter to develop a

          6  clean, fair list, and it takes time and effort, but

          7  there should be a push to keep doing that, as

          8  opposed to the Mayor complaining that the Campaign

          9  Finance Board has not put the burden on the

         10  candidate.

         11                 We also agree that the lower

         12  contribution limits should be looked at in the

         13  record of the last election. We also support flat

         14  grants for runoffs, as well as flat grants for

         15  candidates facing very high-spending participants. I

         16  think now it's like a five to one or six to one

         17  match which requires the candidate to keep dialing

         18  through the last days of the election while their

         19  wealthy opponent has nearly unlimited resources.

         20                 Intermediaries, we think the current

         21  definition is too limited. Again, the intermediary

         22  should be broadened from those who deliver

         23  contributions to those who solicit them, except for

         24  professional fundraisers. And on the very thorny

         25  issue, which in politic we put down as sure winners,
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          2  is, you know, this issue of giving public money to

          3  candidates who clearly do not face serious

          4  competition. And that's hard to define, but I

          5  thought the Board had the framework of a solution

          6  which is to have spending by your opponent trigger

          7  matching funds so that you don't get all $82,000 if

          8  they spend ten. And with some opt out provision that

          9  in case, in very special cases where you're facing a

         10  very well-known opponent, which I don't think the

         11  track record has shown to be the case so far, that

         12  there will be an opportunity to appeal to the Board

         13  in those cases.

         14                 Anyway, I look forward to the process

         15  of going over this legislation. I will conclude.

         16                 MR. ISRAEL: Good afternoon, members

         17  of the Committee, who are not present. I'm Doug

         18  Israel, Public Policy and Advocacy Director with

         19  Citizens Union.

         20                 Citizens Union very much appreciates

         21  the comprehensive reporting evaluation that the

         22  Campaign Finance Board did after the 2005 elections,

         23  and we find the report very helpful in evaluating

         24  the weaknesses and strengths of the program.

         25                 We also appreciate the opportunity
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          2  provided today by the Government Operations

          3  Committee to testify.

          4                 Citizens Union supports many, though

          5  not all of the recommendations, that the Campaign

          6  Finance Board makes in the report, and we've

          7  provided you with a table that actually goes through

          8  one by one each one of the recommendations that they

          9  make, and I'm not going to hit on all of them today,

         10  but please do take a look at that table and if you

         11  have questions, feel free to contact us about it.

         12                 But I do want to put forward five

         13  areas, five priorities we think that the City

         14  Council should consider. First is enacting the Pay

         15  To Play requirement. We've previously stated that we

         16  believe the influence that contractors and

         17  developers, lobbyists have with elected officials,

         18  not only here but throughout the country, is

         19  enhanced by the ability to contribute directly to

         20  the candidates campaign for office.

         21                 The Board recommends a legislative

         22  mandate, redesigning of City databases of City

         23  contracts, and a similar effort for Land Use

         24  applications. We support this call and continue to

         25  improve and make the City's vendor database more
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          2  accessible, and we appreciate the efforts of City

          3  Council, Mayor's Office and the Campaign Finance

          4  Board in making this reality.

          5                 And the Board also now supports

          6  calling for legislation aimed at restricting doing

          7  business contributions. Again, we support that as

          8  well, and we think that this should be done by the

          9  City Council. I think it will avoid a lot of

         10  headaches and be more comprehensive than if it was

         11  done by Campaign Finance Board themselves.

         12                 The second of our priorities is

         13  limiting the amount of public money available in

         14  sure winner races. It seems like there's growing

         15  momentum for this as well.

         16                 And we are pleased that the Campaign

         17  Finance Board recommends eliminating the pro forma

         18  letter process, instead creating a system of

         19  escalating tiers.

         20                 This, coupled with the process for

         21  candidates to apply for the full funding, should

         22  they face opponents with high-name recognition, is

         23  definitely improvement to the program.

         24                 The suggestion or the recommendation

         25  that there should be a burden places on the
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          2  challengers to come forth and defend why they're not

          3  a serious candidate, we don't think is something

          4  that we would support, and we ask the Campaign

          5  Finance Board to rethink about that.

          6                 The third piece is restricting

          7  contributions able to be matched with public funds

          8  through the same year as an election. I think

          9  Council Member Lappin brought up some very great

         10  points about why that probably should not apply to

         11  open seats. But it is something we do support. I

         12  think the Campaign Finance Board made a very strong

         13  point as to why this is necessary. So we do advise

         14  looking into that further.

         15                 Fourth is lower contribution limits,

         16  and I want to add something there. We believe that

         17  the contribution limit should be lowered. We haven't

         18  agreed on, come to a position on what level should

         19  be. We think the 250 for the City Council may be a

         20  little low. But one piece in particular is the limit

         21  for Borough Presidents for $3,000. A) We think it's

         22  probably too high for an office that has

         23  significantly been weakened throughout time; and B)

         24  I don't think that the Borough President of

         25  Brooklyn, for instance, should have the same
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          2  spending cap as the Borough President for Staten

          3  Island.

          4                 I think it invites abuse and it's

          5  actually not fair of the process to limit the

          6  Brooklyn Borough President to the same level

          7  spending as the Staten Island Borough President, who

          8  has to reach out to many less voters.

          9                 And, finally, fifth, we think it's a

         10  priority that the Campaign Finance Board and the

         11  City Council address the disparity that exists for

         12  candidates participating in the program when they

         13  face a well-funded opponent. And we support creating

         14  incentives for non-participating candidates to

         15  appear at debates, extending additional support for

         16  media coverage, and those type of solutions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay. Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 First of all, I just want to mention,

         20  we really appreciate everyone coming, and especially

         21  those that are still to thank in particular, and the

         22  good government groups very, very much appreciate

         23  because everybody, you know, the Council and the

         24  Board, everybody has a different opinion, but I know

         25  personally that I feel very strongly about the
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          2  opinions that you have, because in Hebrew we say

          3  it's being done with schma (phonetic), that

          4  literally means for the sake of God. Now, I won't

          5  push it to that limit, you know, but certainly that

          6  it's for pure purposes. So, we appreciate very much.

          7                 If you don't mind, I just wanted to

          8  ask you, you know, any of you: I had asked, and I

          9  know from a good government perspective, there maybe

         10  can't be enough auditing, but the issue that I had

         11  raised about auditing non-participants, and you

         12  know, the issue was that in terms of disclosure,

         13  right now someone who is a non-participant has to

         14  file with the City Board of Elections as part of the

         15  State law, and files with the Campaign Finance

         16  Board.

         17                 I'm not adverse personally to that

         18  continuing, so that the disclosure is clear. Or even

         19  auditing in terms of the law, you know, about

         20  contributions. But the auditing of the expenses, to

         21  me it seems whether they have the authority, which

         22  I'm not sure about or not, that if Campaign Finance

         23  had enough, you know, Mr. Schwarz talked about

         24  getting more resources, as it is, as it is they have

         25  a lot on their hands. I don't understand why the
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          2  Campaign Finance Board should be spending their time

          3  auditing non-participants.

          4                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Like I say, I

          5  respectfully disagree, if the non-participant is

          6  reporting and disclosing their contributions and

          7  expenses, the only way that the Board is going to

          8  know that that person is telling the truth, and they

          9  are telling the truth to the public in turn, is by

         10  doing some kind of audit. So, I'm not sure if they

         11  do the disclosure, how they cannot do the audit.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: If that's the

         13  State, under State jurisdiction, whether they should

         14  do an audit or not. In other words, the State has

         15  the responsibility, right?

         16                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, as you well

         17  know, the problem here is that the State does not

         18  take action.

         19                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Well, I will just

         20  add that Common Cause research done earlier this

         21  year looked at this very question of sort of

         22  reporting to the State Board of Elections, and in

         23  one sort of very small sample, we found a number of

         24  contributions that exceeded the limit going to State

         25  parties with apparently the Board not being aware of

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  this or, you know, following up with the campaigns,

          3  or the parties in any way.

          4                 I think what we have learned by

          5  watching the State Board of Elections is that the

          6  honor system does not work. We believe that the

          7  State Board of Elections' database is rife with

          8  errors, almost precisely because A) they do not

          9  audit them to make sure they're correct; and B)

         10  campaigns and parties are well aware that there is

         11  no procedure for auditing as our contributors and

         12  there is no sense that one has to be very careful

         13  when submitting information to the State Board of

         14  Elections to ensure that it's correct.

         15                 So, we feel that that example, again,

         16  of served non-audits has a very poor track record

         17  and is not one we would want to follow.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay, we

         19  appreciate it.

         20                 Mr. Israel, another question, just

         21  since you didn't have a chance to talk extra, and I

         22  want to make sure that you leave -- in terms of

         23  limits, if for example, they were consistent with

         24  the federal limits, which obviously doesn't bring it

         25  down that much, but certainly would bring it down
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          2  somewhat, so that it would be consistent, what would

          3  you think about that? Bring down the Council races

          4  to federal limits for contributions?

          5                 MR. ISRAEL: For Council races being

          6  that same level?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Yes.

          8                 MR. ISRAEL: I think that would

          9  probably be a little high.

         10                 I think certainly the Citywide and

         11  the Borough President should be brought down to that

         12  level.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay. And then,

         14  finally, the issue that was raised earlier by one of

         15  my colleagues about the, you know, this whole

         16  discussion that came up about the exempt

         17  expenditures, I don't remember if any one of you,

         18  I'm sorry, had some strong feelings about that.

         19                 MR. ISRAEL: You know, our

         20  organization supports actually both positions that

         21  that should be done to simplify the process and the

         22  cap should be raised, but at the same time we also

         23  support the recommendation that the spending cap in

         24  general should be lowered. So, there is definitely a

         25  conflict of these two things. It would seem like one
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          2  or the other. They wouldn't probably happen

          3  together. But we do support both things and I

          4  understand in putting that position forward.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Let me ask all

          6  three of you, this is the last question. Maybe I

          7  shouldn't say it, and maybe my lawyer DeNora Johnson

          8  will tell me I shouldn't have said it, but to me --

          9  she said I shouldn't say it.

         10                 No, look, to me really, if someone is

         11  determined, as in any case, you know, somebody puts

         12  an alarm on their house with gates and whatever

         13  else, you do whatever you want, you're really trying

         14  to minimize, discourage, I should say, somebody from

         15  coming here, maybe going somewhere else. And with

         16  the disclosures, the fact is no matter what you do,

         17  you know, in terms of the compliance, the auditing

         18  and everything else, if someone is really determined

         19  to figure out how to get around things, it's not

         20  that hard.

         21                 You know, even with, I would say even

         22  with everything, I don't agree with everything you

         23  want to do, obviously, what I'm just saying to you

         24  is that, it has to be clear, and I think it is

         25  clear, but I'm saying it out loud, that any of the
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          2  changes we make, you know, try to encourage really

          3  to do the right thing, but at the end of the day, if

          4  somebody is determined to get around things, whether

          5  it's the lobbying law or the other stuff, it's not

          6  hard. It's really not hard.

          7                 And if you limit the expenditures.

          8  I'm just picking an example, you know, like when we

          9  talk about vendors to the City, so they find

         10  somebody else, you know, some cousin, you know,

         11  wouldn't you like to help this guy who is a nice guy

         12  who I heard is running for City Council, and that's

         13  how things happen.

         14                 So, I'm not saying that because

         15  things, you can get around the law, that we

         16  shouldn't do anything, because that's certainly

         17  wrong, but to feel that these, the things that we're

         18  trying to change will ultimately eradicate it, is

         19  certainly I think, you know, far from it. But I

         20  appreciate again your coming. Do you have something

         21  you want to say?

         22                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: As I say, two things,

         23  I think some of our recommendations are designed to

         24  make the program less complicated for people to

         25  participate in, like the exempt expenditures, and so

                                                            127

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  we understand -- and there have been some changes to

          3  the program or some proposals we have opposed

          4  because we felt it made it so burdensome that you

          5  would not attract candidates on a voluntary basis.

          6                 But I would also say that I think the

          7  Campaign Finance Board has a pretty incredible

          8  record of finding and ferreting out wrongdoing.

          9  There have been more than one or two people

         10  prosecuted for, successfully, for what they've done

         11  under the law. And I think that it is a dramatic

         12  difference between the enforcement in the law at the

         13  City Board of Elections, astonishing really.

         14                 I don't know, once I was there and I

         15  asked to look at some Campaign Finance records, and

         16  they said it's in this draw, you can just open it

         17  up, and there was actually a ham sandwich in the

         18  draw. So, I think for many people that's the kind of

         19  regulation they're used to which understandably

         20  makes them think that anything more serious is

         21  unfair.

         22                 But, anyway, I think people do get

         23  caught who do things that are wrong.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I want to thank

         25  everyone from the Campaign Finance Board, as well as
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          2  you, for coming. And we will try to make sure that

          3  you do not find any ham sandwich in the Campaign

          4  Board of Elections.

          5                 Thank you very much for coming.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 3:39 p.m.)
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